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Where we are 

As the largest municipality in Waterloo Region, Kitchener is situated in the heart of Southwestern Ontario, 
close to major highways - including Canada’s super highway, 401 - that easily connects to London, Stratford 
and the Greater Toronto Area. 

Situated on the Grand River, Kitchener is the perfect destination for recreation and leisure activities, with a 
plethora of choices, including many parks, trails and natural areas. 

Downtown Kitchener is the heart of the arts and culture scene for Waterloo Region. Festivals and special 
events provide the opportunity to experience a variety of activities and cultural events, in celebration of 
our great diversity. 
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Message 
from the Mayor 

On behalf of city council, I am pleased to introduce the 2017 Annual Financial Report. Last year, I’m proud to say 
we advanced our vision for a city built on a diverse, dynamic economy and caring, innovative neighbourhoods.  

In 2017, City of Kitchener staff and council developed a list of strategic actions representing projects or 
ongoing programs and initiatives that reflect this vision to build our city with passion and purpose. Keeping our 
citizens front and centre, we made difficult decisions in order to deliver a balanced budget. 

We know it isn’t just a strong economy or vibrant neighbourhoods that build our city. It’s people who build 
great cities, through partnerships and collaboration, and working together for a common purpose.  

We are all citybuilders. 

The budgets passed during this term of council maintained funding for existing programs and services and 
also invested in new resources for the areas of our city that people have told us they value most: our parks, trails, 
and, of course, neighbourhoods. 

Strong neighbourhoods: We work alongside our tremendous neighbourhood associations, our community 
partners and our citizens to create the spaces, places and experiences that connect people with one another.  

Strong economy: Our four-year economic development strategy, Make it Kitchener, ensures our innovators 
and entrepreneurs, makers and manufacturers, developers and investors are all inspired to be citybuilders.   

Strong local government: Strong financial leadership allows the city to support citizens as they take the lead in 
doing great things in our community.   

We are proud to produce reports like this each year, demonstrating the City of Kitchener’s commitment 
to openness and transparency. This report provides a financial perspective on how we contributed to building our city 
in 2017. 

But, council and staff can’t do it alone. If people are the citybuilders, I encourage the members of this community to 
be engaged and involved, not just at budget time, but every day. It matters. 

Talk to each other. Talk to your elected officials. Share your vision and play your part in building our city.  
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CITY COUNCIL 

OFFICE OF THE 
CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 
Dan Chapman: Chief Administrative Officer 

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
Michael May: General Manager and Deputy CAO 

> Bylaw Enforcement 
> Corporate Customer Service 
> Fire 
> Neighbourhood Programs & Services 
> Sport 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
Victoria Raab: General Manager 

> Corporate Communications & Marketing 
> Human Resources 
> Legal Services 
> Legislated Services 
> Office of the Mayor and Council 
> Technology Innovation & Services 

As of April 3, 2018 

Organizational 
Structure 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
Justin Readman: General Manager 

> Building 
> Economic Development 
> Engineering 
> Planning 
> Transportation Services 

FINANCIAL SERVICES 
Jonathan Lautenbach: Chief Financial Officer 

> Accounting 
> Asset Management 
> Financial Planning 
> Revenue 
> SAP Business Solutions 
> Supply Services 

INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES 
Denise McGoldrick: General Manager 

> Facilities Management 
> Fleet 
> Operations - Roads & Traffic 
> Parks & Cemeteries 
> Utilities 
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Message from  the City  Treasurer 
I am pleased to present the Annual Financial Report for the City of Kitchener for the 
year ended December 31, 2017. This report communicates the 2017 financial results for 
the City of Kitchener to council, residents and other interested parties. These 
results demonstrate Kitchener’s continued sound financial management and fiscal prudence.   

The financial statements and related information contained in this annual report are 
the responsibility of the management team of the City of Kitchener. Management has 
instituted a system of internal controls intended to safeguard assets and to provide 
accurate, timely and complete financial information for both internal decision-making and 
external reporting. 

The city has the following foundations in place to ensure appropriate financial controls and 
accountability are maintained, and to take a proactive approach to identify and address financial 
challenges. 

FOCUS ON EFFECTIVE AND EFFICIENT GOVERNMENT IN STRATEGIC PLANNING 

At the beginning of each new four-year term of council, the City of Kitchener develops 
a strategic plan to advance the vision, mission and goals for Kitchener. The 2015-2018 
strategic plan was developed in collaboration with extensive community input. The plan is 
designed to ensure that over time, the public funds the city is entrusted to manage on behalf 
of citizens are allocated to top public priorities, invested effectively and spent efficiently. 
Simply stated, the strategic plan serves as the community's roadmap to take us from where we 
are today to where we want to go in the coming years. 
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The 2015-2018 plan includes five key strategic priorities: 

Open
Government 

We will be transparent and accountable to citizens, providing easy 
access to information, a great customer service experience, and 
meaningful opportunities to participate in the democratic process. 

Strong & Resilient We will work within a collaborative network of city-builders to create a 
Economy dynamic and prosperous Kitchener that is rich with employment 

opportunities and successful business ventures that can grow and thrive 
within the broader global economy. 

Safe & Thriving We will work with community partners to create complete, connected, 
Neighbourhoods safe and walkable neighbourhoods with a range of housing options. We 

will encourage people to come together, interact with one another and 
build relationships through inclusive programs, services, events and great 
public gathering places. 

Sustainable We will have well planned, managed and cost effective infrastructure 
Environment & systems that support long-term community needs for services, 
Infrastructure harnessing the benefits of nature through green infrastructure programs 

to create a healthy urban environment. 

Effective & We will deliver quality public services that meet the day-to-day needs of 
Efficient City the community in a reliable and affordable way, made possible through 
Services technology, innovation, employee engagement and a sound long-term 

financial plan. 
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In addition to the strategic plan, another priority of the CAO in 2017 was to review the 
organizational structure to ensure staff were best aligned to respond to emerging priorities 
and changes to allow optimal delivery of effective and efficient internal services and external 
services to our citizens. 

As a result of the organizational review, four themes emerged which guided the formation of 
the new structure: 1) increase the number of departments to allow for a more reasonable 
span of control; 2) place greater emphasis on development services; 3) place greater 
emphasis on corporate customer service; and, 4) streamline financial services needs 
to ensure continued success. 

The review resulted in moving from four departments to five, aligning like-functions more 
strategically: 

• Community Services 
• Infrastructure Services 
• Development Services 
• Corporate Services 
• Financial Services 
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BUSINESS PLANNING AND BUDGET PROCESS 

The purpose of the business planning process is to manage and support the strategic plan 
to guide the medium-term course of the corporation. This involves the 
development, communication and facilitation of a process that engages council, the 
corporate leadership team, management and staff in establishing operational priorities that: 

• are driven by the objectives of the strategic plan, 
• meet the expectations of the community, 
• respond to emerging issues in a sustainable and affordable way. 

With this plan, the organization as a whole will be able to make progress on its strategic 
priorities, as well as maintain and continuously improve the city's core services. 

The business plan is updated annually and is comprised of a brief overview of each 
department. It contains a profile of the city's 44 core services delivered by those departments, 
service trends and future challenges, and a listing of project commitments by division 
identifying the primary link back to the strategic plan. 

The city implemented a comprehensive performance measurement framework to monitor and 
report on key results on an annual basis. In 2017, the city reported on 78 
performance measures related to 22 different core services and has started collecting 
performance data for 22 additional core services that will be reported in 2018. 

In addition to the business planning process city council approves the annual budget, made 
up of three parts: operating, capital and reserves. The City of Kitchener is 
responsible for managing and investing the tax dollars and user fees its residents pay to 
meet the needs of the community and ensure all of the strategic priorities are addressed. 

City Council and staff are committed to striking a healthy balance between offering 
valued services and programs to residents, making strategic investments in community 
priorities, and keeping property taxes at a reasonable rate. 

To provide transparency in the budget process, budget information is posted on the 
city’s website and budget meetings are held in a public forum. Citizens are able to provide 
their input through a number of channels, including by phone, letter, email, social media, or in 
person at a public delegation night. 

Management staff review their budgets regularly. Detailed variance reports are prepared 
and presented to council three times per year, at the end of April, August and December. 
These reports ensure departmental accountability for financial results and are a key tool 
to allow management to respond to financial pressures during the year.   
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EXTERNAL AUDIT 

As required by the Municipal Act, city council has appointed a public accounting firm, 
KPMG LLP, to express an independent audit opinion on management’s consolidated 
financial statements. Their reports to the members of council, inhabitants and 
ratepayers of the Corporation of the City of Kitchener accompany the various financial 
statements in the financial section of this report. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The audited consolidated financial statements are presented to the audit committee for 
approval. The committee provides a focal point for communications between council, 
the external auditor, the internal auditor and management, and facilitates an impartial, objective 
and independent review of management practices through the internal and external audit 
functions. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The City of Kitchener’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with reporting standards set by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada. KPMG LLP have audited the financial statements and 
provided the accompanying auditors’ report. The financial statements and auditors’ report 
satisfy a legislated reporting requirement as set out in the Municipal Act of Ontario. 

The following financial statement discussion and analysis has been prepared by management 
and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and 
financial and statistical review. 

There are four required financial statements: 

• statement of financial position; 
• statement of operations; 
• statement of change in net financial assets, and 
• statement of cash flow. 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, reserves, surpluses/deficits, 
revenue, and expenditures of city funds and governmental functions or entities. These functions 
and entities comprise a part of the combined city operations based upon control exercised by 
the city. The exception is the city’s government business enterprises, which are accounted for 
on the modified equity basis of accounting. References to the “city” below include all activity for 
the consolidated entity. 

New Provincial Legislation in 2017 

Ontario’s Cap and Trade System (the “system”) came into effect on January 1, 2017. As a 
natural gas supplier, the City of Kitchener is a mandatory participant in the system and 
must submit allowances to the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change equal 
to the emissions of their gas customers for the compliance period. The gas delivery rates 
charged to the City of Kitchener’s customers include an amount to cover the cost of 
complying with the system. Compliance with the system has led to increases in Gasworks 
user fees and charges, Gasworks expenses, trade receivables and inventory held for resale. 

10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position highlights four key figures that 
together describe the financial position of a government: 1) cash resources, 2) net 
financial asset position, 3) non-financial assets that are normally held for service provision 
such as tangible capital assets, and 4) accumulated surplus (deficit). The statement is 
used to evaluate the City’s ability to meet its financial obligations and commitments. 

The City’s net financial asset balance is $221 million, an increase of $7 million from 2016. 
This balance is calculated as total financial assets less liabilities and represents the amount 
available to finance future operations. The increase year over year is due to changes in 
the various balance sheet accounts which are described in the paragraphs below. 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Millions 

$250 

$200 

$150 

$100 

$50 

$-

$176 $187 $194 
$214 $221 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The City’s cash position is closely managed and remains adequate along with short-
term investments to meet ongoing cash requirements. The cash position has decreased 
to $23 million from $39 million in 2016. The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
summarizes the sources and uses of cash in both 2017 and 2016. 

Taxes receivable 

The decrease in Taxes receivable at yearend to $17 million from $21 million in 2016 is due 
to increased collection efforts and due to higher tax write-offs as the Assessment Review 
Board works to clear the backlog of appeals. 
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Trade and other accounts receivable 

The amount in Trade and other accounts receivable has increased to $43 million from $29 
million in 2016. This is due partially to utility receivables where rates increased over 2016 
and due to the introduction of the cap and trade component on gas invoices. The City also 
had receivables from the Region of Waterloo and the School Boards due to 
significant tax adjustments late in the year whereby the City would typically owe these 
entities taxes collected on their behalf at yearend. 

Inventory for Resale 

The City holds certain inventory items for resale (primarily related to the Gasworks 
enterprise). This inventory has increased to $16 million from $9 million in 2016 due to a 
higher value of natural gas held and due to the City pre-purchasing allowances for the cap 
and trade system to be used as the City’s customers consume natural gas in the future. 

Investments 

City of Kitchener invests in a manner that provides the highest return while protecting 
and preserving capital, maintaining liquidity to meet the daily cash flow demands and to 
conform to all legislation governing the investment of public funds. The balance in 
investments grew in 2017 to $164 million from $158 million in 2016. This increase relates 
primarily to increased reserve fund balances. 

Investment in Kitchener Power Corp. & Kitchener Generation Corporation 

The City’s investment in both Kitchener Power Corp. and its affiliates and 
Kitchener Generation Corporation is made up of the City’s initial investment and its share of 
net income since acquisition less dividends received. See Notes 6 and 7 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further details. 

Deferred Revenue – Other 

Certain user fees and charges are collected for which the related services have yet to 
be performed. These are recorded under the classification Deferred revenue - other. 
Deferred revenue - other has increased by $9 million to $23 million in 2017. The 
increase relates to funds contributed by developers to move up the timing of capital 
projects. These funds will be returned by way of a reduction in the amount of development 
charges collected in the future from these developers. 

12
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Municipal Debt 

The City has three components that comprise the overall debt total. Debt has been issued to 
fund: 

• a portion of the tax-supported capital program 
• capital improvements to Enterprises, where the debt charges will be funded through user 

fees or external sources, such as the Parking Enterprise or the Kitchener Rangers 
• the Economic Development Investment Fund (EDIF) 

MUNICIPAL DEBT 

Millions 
$125 

$100 

$75 

$50 

$25 

$0 
$22 $20 $18 $17 $18 

$24 $22 $20 $19 $17 

$66 
$61 

$55 
$50 $43 

$112 
$103 

$94 
$85 

$78 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Tax Enterprise EDIF 

The City’s capital investment philosophy ensures that any increases in debt charges from one 
year to the next do not exceed assessment growth (excluding the impact of the debt 
associated with EDIF). As well, the overall contribution from the tax base through taxes and 
debt charges will not increase more than assessment growth plus inflation from one year to 
the next. This philosophy has ensured that the impact on the taxpayer does not exceed 
inflation and that the City must prioritize projects to fit the funding available. 

The City created EDIF in 2004 as a $110 million commitment to invest in catalyst projects 
to strengthen the local economy and stimulate urban development in Downtown Kitchener. 
EDIF has funded major strategic investment projects including the University of 
Waterloo School of Pharmacy, Communitech Hub, and King Street streetscaping. 
These investments have had a remarkable positive impact on the City, increasing the City’s 
recognition as a location for innovation, entrepreneurship, and a sought-after urban lifestyle. 
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Municipal debt has decreased to $78 million from $85 million in 2016. The change in debt is 
a result of new debt issuance of $4.4 million offset by repayment of $11.4 million of existing 
debt. Debt is expected to decrease for the next number of years as the ten year EDIF 
program continues to be paid down. 

Employee Future Benefits 

Total employee future benefits include liabilities for future sick leave costs, 
post-retirement benefits and future Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) payments.  
The liability has increased from $42 million in 2016 to $46 million in 2017. The 
increase relates to reduced interest rates used to calculate the present value of 
the liability, increases in salaries for employees entitled to sick leave, and due to 
broader coverages under WSIB. 

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS BY ASSET TYPE 

Land $188M ($190M) 

La nd Improvements 
$29M ($29M) Bui ldings 

$182M ($185M) 

Lea sehold Improvements 
$2M ($2M) 

Ma chi nery a nd Equipment 
$25M ($24M) 

Computer Hardware & 
Softwa re $24M ($26M) 

Vehicles $15M ($14M) 

Li near Assets 
$601M ($576M) 

As s ets under construction 
$45M ($19M) 

Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are 
directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The 
cost less residual value of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives ranging from 2 to 100 years. 

During 2017, the City acquired $95 million in tangible capital assets (2016 - $75 million). 
Amortization of assets was $46 million (2016 - $43 million). Refer to Note 13 and Schedule A 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed breakdown of tangible capital asset 
activity for 2017. The net book value of tangible capital assets at December 31, 2017 is 
$1.11 billion, up from $1.07 billion in 2016.   
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Accumulated Surplus 

The City’s accumulated surplus for fiscal 2017 is $1.34 billion (2016 - $1.28 billion). The 
accumulated surplus reflects the resources that have been built over time at the City and 
the balance includes items such as tangible capital assets, equity in Kitchener 
Power Corp. and Kitchener Generation Corporation and various reserves.   

RESERVE FUNDS 

Millions 
$70 

$60 

$50 
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$-
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$41 

$51 
$55 

$61 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Reserve Funds 

Reserve funds are included as part of accumulated surplus and these balances are disclosed 
in Note 14 to the financial statements. Reserve fund balances have increased during 2017 to 
$61 million (2016 - $55 million).   

Under the authority of the Municipal Act, the City and certain of its consolidated entities 
have established reserve funds to ensure future liabilities can be met, capital assets are 
properly maintained and sufficient financial flexibility exists to respond to economic 
cycles or unanticipated financial requirements. Council or the Boards of the consolidated 
entities are responsible for exercising discretion with respect to the use of reserve funds, 
subject to the terms of their respective policies, as well as statutory and legal requirements. 
Council’s reserve policy contains guiding principles to ensure the reserves continue to support 
the financial goals and serve the highest priority needs of the City and its citizens.  

15



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

The Consolidated Statement of Operations reports the revenue collected by the City, the cost of 
providing municipal services and the resulting annual surplus/deficit. 

This year, overall assessment growth was 1.65%. While this new assessment creates 
revenue for the City, there is also a cost to provide services to new development. In 
addition, cost increases in excess of inflation, public demand for new services and unreliable 
revenue sources all place significant pressure on the City budget. The tax rate increase for 
2017 operations was 1.73%. 

REVENUE 

Millions 
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Taxation Gasworks Water, Other user fees Grants Other 
sewer & 

storm water 

2017 Budget 2017 Actual 2016 Actual 

Revenue 

Revenue is received from the following sources: taxation; user fees from gasworks, 
water, sewer, storm water and other; grants and other. Kitchener is one of only two 
municipalities in Ontario that own and operate a natural gas utility. 

Gasworks revenue is $14 million higher than 2016 due to higher rates charged to customers as 
planned and due to the new cap and trade system that has the City collecting revenue to cover 
the cost of cap and trade allowances that must be remitted related to all gas consumed 
by its customers. 
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Water, sewer & storm water revenue is $6 million greater than in 2016 due to the approved 
increases in the user fee rates charged for these services. 

Grant revenue is greater than prior year due to Clean Water Wastewater Infrastructure funding 
and additional Federal Gas Tax funds earned in the year. Grant revenue is less than budget 
due to the deferral of certain Federal Gas Tax funded projects. These funds will be spent in 
future years as these eligible capital projects are completed. 

The ‘Other’ category in the chart above includes contribution of tangible capital assets, 
investment income, penalties and interest on taxes, development charge revenue recognized, 
and share of net income of Kitchener Power Corp. and Kitchener Generation Corporation. 
Revenue is lower in this category for 2017 compared to 2016 due to significantly lower 
amounts of contributed assets to the City. 

EXPENSES BY FUNCTION 

Millions 
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General 
government 

Protection 
services 

Transport-
ation 

services 

Environ-
mental 
services 

Recreation 
& cultural 
services 

Other Gasworks 

2017 Budget 2017 Actual 2016 Actual 

Expenses 

The City of Kitchener is a diversified government institution and provides a wide range of 
services to its citizens including fire, roads, water, sewer, natural gas, libraries, and community 
services. Schedule B of the Consolidated Financial Statements breaks the expenses into major 
functional activities, consistent with legislated requirements.  
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As is common with most Ontario municipalities, the City of Kitchener does not 
budget for amortization of tangible capital assets or gains and losses on disposal of 
assets. However, to provide a more meaningful comparison to actuals, the Council-
approved budget has been adjusted to include amortization expense and other 
accounting adjustments mandated by the Public Sector Accounting Board to express 
the financial statements on an accrual basis. This provides greater clarity for all readers 
in assessing budget to actual variances. 

Environmental services expenses are $3 million under budget due to certain projects being 
delayed and due to water main break costs being less than anticipated. 

Gasworks expenses in 2017 were $15 million higher than in 2016. This 
relates to higher commodity prices compared to 2016 and due to the requirement to 
purchase cap and trade allowances related to the gas consumed by the City’s 
customers. The lower Gasworks expenses compared to budget relates to lower costs 
associated with purchasing natural gas due to lower commodity prices than expected 
and lower than anticipated consumption.   

EXPENSES BY OBJECT 

Materials and services 
$104M ($92M) 
Debenture debt interest 

$3M ($3M) 
Grants and other 

$5M ($4M) 

Amortization 
$46M ($43M) 

Loss/(Gain) on sale 
of assets 

$1M ($-1M) 

Salaries, wages and 

employee benefits 
$152M ($147M) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets explains the difference between 
a municipality’s surplus or deficit for the reporting year and its change in net financial assets in 
the same reporting year. This statement provides for the reporting of the acquisition of 
tangible capital assets and other significant items that impact the difference between 
the annual surplus/deficit and the change in net financial assets. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

The statement of cash flows reports changes in cash and cash equivalents resulting 
from operations, capital, investing and financing activities and shows how the City 
financed its activities during the year and met its cash requirements. 

LOOKING AHEAD 

Looking ahead to 2018, the City will continue to balance community priorities with 
affordable property tax rates and user fees. The in-depth business planning and budgeting 
processes help the City to manage these healthy pressures and make the right decisions 
between strategic investments and affordable tax rates for our citizens. 

Continuing to focus on building an even stronger financial position through lower debt levels and 
healthier reserve balances will allow the city to be resilient and flexible in responding to 
growth and change, not just in 2018 but for the years to come. 

Jonathan Lautenbach, CPA, CGA 
Chief Financial Officer & City Treasurer 
June 11, 2018 
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KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519-747-8800 
Fax 519-747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Mayor and Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Corporation of the City of Kitchener 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the 
Corporation of the City of Kitchener, which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at December 31, 2017, the consolidated statements of 
operations, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 

member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP 
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Page 2 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Corporation of the City of 
Kitchener as at December 31, 2017, and its consolidated results of operations 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 
June 11, 2018 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2017 

2017 2016 

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,607,209 $ 38,577,079 
Taxes receivable 16,877,835 20,598,155 
Trade and other accounts receivable 43,404,844 28,851,877 
Loans receivable (Note 4) 8,163,370 9,070,598 
Inventory for resale 16,312,870 8,914,964 
Investments (Note 5) 164,314,904 158,360,514 
Investment in Kitchener Power Corp. and its affiliates (Note 6) 207,199,184 201,721,655 
Investment in Kitchener Generation Corporation (Note 7) 3,019,238 3,251,490 

481,899,454 469,346,332 

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 76,142,394 75,794,240 
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds (Note 9) 38,044,861 38,400,547 
Deferred revenue - other 23,134,881 14,005,912 
Municipal debt (Note 10) 77,889,047 84,859,304 
Employee future benefits (Note 12) 45,900,158 42,238,419 

261,111,341 255,298,422 

Net financial assets 220,788,113 214,047,910 

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 13) 
Inventory of supplies 
Prepaid expenses 

1,111,359,528 
2,508,729 
1,175,915 

1,065,060,311 
2,568,188 
1,327,158 

1,115,044,172 1,068,955,657 

Accumulated surplus $ 1,335,832,285 $ 1,283,003,567 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER 
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

2017 2017 2016 
Budget 

Revenue 
Taxation $ 120,258,152 $ 119,727,010 $ 116,674,911 
User fees and charges 

Gasworks 88,660,989 88,514,388 74,320,186 
Water, sewer and storm water 59,111,898 60,880,105 55,173,590 
Other 49,402,170 49,425,542 46,447,844 

Grants 14,015,473 12,907,930 6,111,316 
Contributions of tangible capital assets 582,656 582,656 4,404,349 
Investment income 6,851,131 7,928,699 7,518,318 
Penalties and interest on taxes 3,100,000 3,247,419 3,250,779 
Development charge revenue recognized 11,207,000 7,303,467 10,388,476 
Share of net income of Kitchener Power Corp. and its 

affiliates (Note 6) 9,347,693 9,347,693 9,593,078 
Share of net income of Kitchener Generation 

Corporation (Note 7) - 3,407 24,480 
Other 3,100,117 4,088,761 5,899,048 

Total revenue 365,637,279 363,957,077 339,806,375 

Expenses 
General government 40,368,176 39,436,600 38,931,568 
Protection services 46,897,128 47,268,313 45,291,230 
Transportation services 37,143,087 37,804,616 35,100,204 
Environmental services 33,900,222 31,305,220 30,012,049 
Health services 2,159,474 2,295,627 2,257,225 
Social and family services 2,440,496 2,661,773 2,722,141 
Recreation and cultural services 69,504,379 69,846,801 68,495,718 
Planning and development 13,590,084 13,123,204 13,160,042 
Gasworks 74,981,716 67,386,205 52,183,999 

Total expenses 320,984,762 311,128,359 288,154,176 

Annual surplus 44,652,517 52,828,718 51,652,199 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 1,283,003,567 1,283,003,567 1,231,351,368 

Accumulated surplus, end of year (Note 14) $ 1,327,656,084 $ 1,335,832,285 $ 1,283,003,567 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

2017 
Budget

2017 2016 

Annual surplus

Amortization of tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Loss (gain) on disposals of tangible capital assets 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of supplies of inventories 
Acquisition of prepaid expenses 
Consumption of supplies inventory 
Use of prepaid expenses 

Change in net financial assets

Net financial assets, beginning of year 

Net financial assets, end of year 

$ 26,769,140 
46,188,121 

(76,529,775) 
349,072 

1,844,578 
-

-

-

-

(1,378,864) 
214,047,910 

$ 212,669,046 

$ 52,828,718 
46,188,121 

(95,072,534) 
740,630 

1,844,578 
(6,173,446) 

(205,620) 
6,232,893 

356,863 

6,740,203 
214,047,910 

$ 220,788,113 

$ 

$ 

51,652,199 
42,657,709 

(75,104,330) 
(1,812,732) 
2,208,552 

(5,828,681) 
(428,135) 

5,868,774 
374,693 

19,588,049 
194,459,861 

214,047,910 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

2017 2016 

Operating

Annual surplus $ 52,828,718 $ 51,652,199 

Items not involving cash

Amortization 46,188,121 42,657,709 
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets 740,630 (1,812,732) 
Share of net income of Kitchener Power Corp. and its affiliates (9,347,693) (9,593,078) 
Share of net income of Kitchener Generation Corporation (3,407) (24,480) 
Change in employee future benefits 3,661,739 3,928,057 
Contributions of tangible capital assets (582,656) (4,404,349) 

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities

Taxes receivable 3,720,320 (981,361) 
Trade and other accounts receivable (14,552,967) 5,286,787 
Loans receivables 907,228 1,240,805 
Inventory of supplies 59,459 40,093 
Inventory for resale (7,397,906) 837,800 
Prepaid expenses 151,243 (53,442) 
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds (355,686) 12,135,016 
Deferred revenue - other 9,128,969 (371,490) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 348,154 3,481,309 

Net change in cash from operating activities 85,494,266 104,018,843 

Investing

Dividends received from Kitchener Power Corp. 3,870,151 4,067,948 
Debt and equity payments received from Kitchener Generation Corporation 235,659 256,749 
Net acquisition of investments (5,954,390) (19,330,302) 

Net change in cash from investing activities (1,848,580) (15,005,605) 

Financing

Municipal debt issued 4,439,000 2,381,000 
Municipal debt repaid (11,409,256) (11,057,352) 

Net change in cash from financing activities (6,970,256) (8,676,352) 

Capital

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (94,489,878) (70,699,982) 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 1,844,578 2,208,552 

Net change in cash from capital activities (92,645,300) (68,491,430) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (15,969,870) 11,845,456 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 38,577,079 26,731,623 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 22,607,209 $ 38,577,079 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

These consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of Kitchener (the “City”) have been 
prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for local 
governments as established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants 
of Canada. The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of 
these financial statements: 

a. Basis of consolidation 

i. Consolidated entities 

These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, reserves, surpluses/deficits, 
revenues, and expenditures of those City funds and governmental functions or entities which have been 
determined to comprise a part of the aggregate City operations based upon control exercised by the City 
except for the City’s government businesses which are accounted for on the modified equity basis of 
accounting. The following boards, municipal enterprises and utilities have been included in the 
consolidated financial statements: 
 Kitchener Public Library 
 Kitchener Downtown Improvement Area Board of Management 
 Belmont Improvement Area Board of Management 
 The Centre in the Square Inc. 
 Waterworks Enterprise 
 Gasworks Enterprise 
 Sewer Surcharge Enterprise 
 Storm Water Management Enterprise 
 Building Enterprise 
 Golf Enterprise 
 Parking Enterprise 

All inter-organizational and inter-fund transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

ii. Government business enterprises 

Kitchener Generation Corporation and Kitchener Power Corp. and its affiliates are not consolidated but 
are accounted for on the modified equity basis which reflects the City of Kitchener’s investment in the 
enterprises and its share of net income since acquisition. Under the modified equity basis, the 
enterprises’ accounting principles are not adjusted to conform to those of the City, and inter-
organizational transactions and balances are not eliminated. 

iii. Accounting for region and school board transactions 

The taxation, other revenue, expenditures, assets and liabilities, with respect to the operations of the 
school boards and the Regional Municipality of Waterloo, are not reflected in these consolidated financial 
statements. 

iv. Trust funds 

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the City are not consolidated, but are reported 
separately on the “Trust Funds Statement of Continuity and Balance Sheet” (see Note 3). 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

b. Basis of accounting 

i. Accrual basis of accounting 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual 
basis of accounting recognizes revenues in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that 
gave rise to the revenues. Expenses are recognized in the period the goods and services are acquired 
and a liability is incurred or when an external transfer is due. 

ii. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturity of 
90 days or less as at the end of the year. 

iii. Trade and other accounts receivable 

Trade and other accounts receivable are reported net of any allowance for doubtful accounts. 

iv. Loans receivable 

Loans receivable are reported net of any allowance for doubtful accounts.  Interest income is recorded 
as it accrues. When the value of any loan receivable is identified as impaired, an allowance is set up to 
offset the carrying amount and any adjustments are included in materials and services expense in the 
period the impairment is recognized. 

v. Inventory for resale 

Inventory for resale is valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value on an average cost basis. 

vi. Investments 

Portfolio investments are carried at cost, net of accumulated amortization on premiums and discounts. 
Premiums and discounts are amortized on a straight line basis over the term to maturity. Interest income 
is recorded as it accrues. When the value of any portfolio investment is identified as impaired, the 
carrying amount is adjusted to the estimated realizable amount and any adjustments are included in 
investment income in the period the impairment is recognized. 

vii. Deferred revenue 

Government transfers, contributions and other amounts are received from third parties pursuant to 
legislation, regulation or agreement and may only be used in the conduct of certain programs, in the 
completion of specific work or for the purchase of tangible capital assets. A requirement of the Public 
Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada is that obligatory 
reserves be reported as deferred revenue.  Obligatory reserves include development charges, 
recreational lands, building permits and gas tax funding. In addition, certain user charges and fees are 
collected for which the related services have yet to be performed. These are recorded under the 
classification Deferred revenue - other.  Revenue is recognized in the period when the related expenses 
are incurred, services performed or the tangible capital assets are acquired. 

viii. Employee future benefits 

The contributions to a multi-employer, defined benefit pension plan are expensed when contributions are 
due. The costs of post-retirement benefits are recognized when the event that obligates the City 
occurs. Costs include projected future income payments, health care continuation costs and fees paid to 
independent administrators of these plans, calculated on a present value basis. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b. Basis of accounting (continued)

viii. Employee future benefits (continued)

The costs of post-retirement benefits are actuarially determined using the projected benefits method 
prorated on service and management’s best estimate of retirement ages of employees, salary 
escalation, expected health care costs and plan investment performance. Liabilities are actuarially 
determined using discount rates that are consistent with the market rates of high quality debt 
instruments. Any gains or losses from changes in assumptions or experience are amortized over the 
average remaining service period for active employees. 

ix. Contaminated Sites

Contaminated sites are defined as the result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water or 
sediment of a chemical, organic, or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an environment 
standard. This Standard relates to sites that are not in productive use and sites in productive use where 
an unexpected event resulted in contamination. As of December 31, 2017, there was no liability recorded 
on the statement 

x. Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge liabilities and are held for use in the provision of 
services. They have useful lives that extend beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the 
ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets during the year, together with the 
excess of revenues over expenses, provides the consolidated change in net financial assets for the year. 

a. Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly attributable 
to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The cost less residual value of 
the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as 
follows: 

Assets Amortization Period

Land The original cost of land is not amortized 
Land Improvements 15 to 100 years 
Buildings & building improvements 15 to 50 years 
Leasehold improvement Over the useful life of the improvement or the lease 

term, whichever is shorter 
Machinery & equipment 3 to 20 years 
Computer hardware 5 years 
Computer software 2 to 10 years 
Linear assets 6 to 100 years 
Vehicles 5 to 16 years 

b. Contributions of tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at time of receipt 
and are recorded as revenue. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

b. Basis of accounting (continued) 

x. Non-financial assets (continued) 

c. Leases 

Leases are classified as capital or operating leases. Leases which transfer substantially all the risks 
and benefits incidental of ownership are accounted for as capital leases. All other leases are 
accounted for as operating leases and the related lease payments are recorded as expenses when 
incurred. 

d. Inventory of supplies 

Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and replacement cost. 

e. Works of art and cultural and historic assets 

Works of art and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these financial 
statements. 

xi. Government transfers 

Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements in the period in which the events giving 
rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met and 
reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made. 

Government transfers and developer contributions-in-kind related to capital acquisitions are required to 
be recognized as revenue in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which the tangible 
capital assets are acquired. 

xii. Use of estimates 

Since precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the 
preparation of periodic financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates and 
approximations. These have been made using careful judgment. Actual results could differ from these 
estimates. 

2. Operations of school boards and the Regional Municipality of Waterloo 

Further to Note 1 a) iii, the taxation, other revenues and requisitions for the school boards and the Regional 
Municipality of Waterloo are comprised of the following: 

School Region Total 
Boards 

Taxation and user charges $ 87,220,242 $ 243,261,729 $ 330,481,971 
Share of payments in lieu of taxes 586 2,655,541 2,656,127 
Share of linear properties 61,869 124,867 186,736 

Amounts requisitioned $ 87,282,697 $ 246,042,137 $ 333,324,834 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

3. Trust funds 

Trust funds administered by the City have not been included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position, nor have their operations been included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The trust funds 
under administration are comprised of cemetery perpetual care and prepaid interment funds totalling 
$14,707,650 (2016 - $14,029,550). 

4. Loans receivable 

Loans receivable are made up of the following: 

2017 2016 

Major capital improvement loans receivable $ 7,502,617 $ 8,126,151 
Loans receivable with forgiveness provisions 42,392 55,745 
Minor capital improvement and other loans receivable 618,361 888,702 

$ 8,163,370 $ 9,070,598 

Major capital improvement loans are individual loans in excess of $500,000 when issued with no forgiveness 
provision built into the loan.  These loans have repayment terms ranging from 10 to 12 years (2016 - 10 to 12 
years).  All major capital improvement loans are unsecured and bear interest at rates ranging from 1.53% to 
1.95% (2016 - 1.53% to 1.95%). 

Forgivable loans are those initially offered with forgiveness provisions built into the agreement.  All loans in this 
category are unsecured and have repayment terms of 5 years (2016  - 5 to 10 years).  The forgiveness 
provisions range from 15% to 50%  (2016 - 8% to 50%).  The balances recorded are net of the allowance for 
forgiveness. Interest rates on these loans range from 0% to 8% (2016 - 0% to 8%). 

Minor capital improvement and other loans receivable comprise any loan receivable not fitting into the first two 
categories.  There is a variety of terms related to these loans with payment terms ranging from 6 months to 25 
years  (2016  - 6 months to 25 years).  The majority of these loans are secured by the asset the loan was 
granted to finance, but others are unsecured.  The interest rates on these loans range from 0.0% to 12.9% 
(2016 - 0.0% to 12.9%). 

5. Investments 

Investments are made up of the following: 

2017 2017 2016 2016 
Cost Market Cost Market 

Value Value 

Guaranteed investment certificates $ 155,309,123 $ 157,281,753 $ 150,124,084 $ 151,937,572 
Bonds and debentures 8,673,023 8,654,050 7,949,154 8,180,459 
Common stock 332,758 514,227 287,276 468,924 

$ 164,314,904 $ 166,450,030 $ 158,360,514 $ 160,586,955 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

6. Investment in Kitchener Power Corp. and its Affiliates

Under the provincial government’s Electricity Competition Act (Bill 35), Kitchener Power Corp., a holding
company, along with its wholly owned subsidiaries, including Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc., was incorporated on
July 1, 2000.

On August 1, 2000, under by-laws passed by the City and the Township of Wilmot, the net assets of the former
Hydro-Electric Commission of Kitchener-Wilmot were transferred to the new corporation. The City took back a
92.25% share in the common shares of Kitchener Power Corp. and a 92.25% share in long-term notes payable
by the affiliates for the assets transferred. Certain surplus property assets and cash funds were excluded from
the transfer and turned over to the City and the Township.

The investment is comprised of the following:

2017 2016 

Kitchener Power Corp. common shares $ 61,244,208 $ 61,244,208 
Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. long-term notes receivable 70,997,576 70,997,576 
Share of net income and prior period adjustments due to changes in 

accounting policies since acquisition, net of dividends 74,957,400 69,479,871 

$ 207,199,184 $ 201,721,655 

The Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. notes are unsecured and bear interest at the rate of 4.88% (2016 - 4.88%). 
There are no repayment terms and there is no intent to redeem the notes or the shares. 

The following table provides condensed financial information with respect to Kitchener Power Corp.: 

2017 2016 

Current assets $ 72,120,000 $ 75,614,000 
Non-current assets 235,287,000 225,417,000 
Regulatory assets 10,073,000 4,487,000 
Deferred taxes - 141,000 

Total assets 317,480,000 305,659,000 

Current liabilities 36,890,000 39,059,000 
Long-term debt 78,745,000 79,872,000 
Regulatory liabilities 11,021,000 10,320,000 
Other liabilities 42,856,000 34,378,000 

Total liabilities 169,512,000 163,629,000 

Net assets 147,968,000 142,030,000 

Results of operations

Revenues 251,127,000 277,930,000 
Expenses (240,994,000) (267,531,000) 

Net income 10,133,000 10,399,000 

City's share of net income - 92.25% $ 9,347,693 $ 9,593,078 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

7. Investment in Kitchener Generation Corporation

Under the provincial government's Business Corporation Act, Kitchener Generation Corporation was
incorporated on December 9, 2011.

Effective January 1, 2012, the City transferred the solar roof asset constructed on the surface of the Kitchener
Operations Facility to Kitchener Generation Corporation in exchange for 100% of its common shares and
interest bearing debt.

The investment in Kitchener Generation Corporation is comprised of the following:

2017 2016 

Kitchener Generation Corporation common shares $ 313,271 $ 336,837 
Kitchener Generation Corporation long-term notes receivable 2,819,442 3,031,534 
Share of net income since acquisition, net of dividends (113,475) (116,881) 

$ 3,019,238 $ 3,251,490 

The notes receivable are unsecured and bear interest at the rate of 5.01%. To the extent that Kitchener 
Generation Corporation has positive annual cash flows after any dividend payment, the cash will be returned to 
the City as repayment of the outstanding debt and return of capital.  The proportion to which they contribute is 
90% debt, 10% equity. 

The following table provides condensed financial information with respect to Kitchener Generation Corporation: 

2017 2016 

Current assets $ 13,354 $ 4,883 
Capital assets 3,019,272 3,251,524 

Total assets 3,032,626 3,256,407 

Current liabilities 13,387 4,916 
Long-term debt 2,819,442 3,031,535 

Total liabilities 2,832,829 3,036,451 

Net assets 199,797 219,956 

Results of operations

Revenues 390,542 433,797 
Expenses (387,135) (409,317) 

Net income 3,407 24,480 

City's share of net income - 100% $ 3,407 $ 24,480 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

8. Insurance pool 

Liabilities include an amount of $6,347,875 (2016  - $4,746,320) which represents funds belonging to the 
Waterloo Region Municipalities Insurance Pool (the "Pool") and administered by the City on behalf of the Pool’s 
members. The members entered an agreement in 1998 to purchase property damage and public liability 
insurance on a group basis and share a retained level of risk. 

The members pay an actuarially determined annual levy to fund insurance, prefund expected losses and 
contribute to a surplus. The Pool has purchased insurance to fund losses above a predetermined deductible 
and any losses above a predetermined total in any year. 

The City’s share of Pool levies is 26.11% (2016 - 25.72%) and its share of the Pool surplus as at May 31, 2017 
was $1,136,398  (2016  - $1,066,337). The City’s share of the Pool surplus has not been included in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 

9. Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds 

Obligatory deferred revenue is comprised of the following: 

2017 2016 

Development charges $ 18,017,536 $ 16,552,083 
Federal gas tax 4,793,167 5,749,009 
Building 8,108,258 8,736,758 
Recreational land 7,125,900 7,362,697 

$ 38,044,861 $ 38,400,547 

The continuity of obligatory deferred revenue is as follows: 

Development Federal gas Recreational 
charges tax Building land Total 

Balance, January 1, 2017 $ 16,552,083 $ 5,749,009 $ 8,736,758 $ 7,362,697 $ 38,400,547 
Collections 8,627,280 6,780,905 5,000 1,260,706 16,673,891 
Interest earned 14,957 17,196 126,036 26,612 184,801 
Contributions used (7,176,784) (7,753,943) (759,536) (1,524,115) (17,214,378) 

Balance, December 31, 2017 18,017,536 4,793,167 8,108,258 7,125,900 38,044,861 

Balance, January 1, 2016 10,405,624 3,404,675 6,252,773 6,202,459 26,265,531 
Collections 16,534,936 6,662,949 2,404,533 1,076,914 26,679,332 
Interest earned - 18,208 92,452 92,569 203,229 
Contributions used (10,388,477) (4,336,823) (13,000) (9,245) (14,747,545) 

Balance, December 31, 2016 $ 16,552,083 $ 5,749,009 $ 8,736,758 $ 7,362,697 $ 38,400,547 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

10. Municipal debt

The City has assumed responsibility for the payment of principal and interest charges on certain long-term debt
issued by other municipalities. At the end of the year, the outstanding principal amount of this liability is
$77,889,047 (2016 - $84,859,304).

The annual principal repayments are:

2018 $ 11,022,151 
2019 10,891,884 
2020 10,047,731 
2021 9,144,187 
2022 11,230,113 
2023 and thereafter 25,552,981 

$ 77,889,047 

The annual principal and interest payments required to service the long-term debt are within the annual debt 
repayment limit prescribed by the Ontario Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing. 

The long-term liabilities carry interest rates ranging from 1.25% to 5.20%  (2016  - 1.15% to 5.75%). Interest 
charges for 2017 relating to municipal debt totalled $3,179,481 (2016 - $3,534,339). 

11. Pension plan

The City makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS), which is a
multi-employer plan, on behalf of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit plan which specifies the amount of the
retirement benefit to be received by the employees based on the length of service and rates of pay. Employee
contributions are matched by the City. Contributions were required on account of current service in 2017 
amounting to $10,390,276 (2016 - $10,095,019).

The latest available report for the OMERS plan was as at December 31, 2017. At that time the plan reported a
$5.4 billion actuarial deficit, based on actuarial liabilities of $93.6 billion and actuarial assets of $87.0 billion.
Ongoing adequacy of the current contribution rates will need to be monitored and may lead to increased future
funding requirements. As at December 31, 2017, the City has no obligation under the past service provisions of
the OMERS agreement.

12. Employee future benefits

The estimated liability for employee future benefits is comprised of the following:

2017 2016 

Sick leave benefit plan $ 18,786,169 $ 17,714,432 
Post-retirement benefits 17,942,289 16,387,087 
Future payments to WSIB 9,171,700 8,136,900 

$ 45,900,158 $ 42,238,419 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

12. Employee future benefits (continued)

a. Sick leave benefit plan

Under the sick leave benefit plan, unused sick leave can accumulate and certain employees may become 
entitled to cash payments when they leave the City’s employment. The amount of benefits paid during the year 
were $1,638,157 (2016 - $1,273,695). 

A reserve fund to provide for this liability is included in accumulated surplus, in the amount of $5,019,687 (2016 
- $5,287,741).

Anticipated undiscounted payments to employees who are eligible to retire are:

2018 $ 2,378,852 
2019 913,691 
2020 1,322,105 
2021 1,222,010 
2022 975,159 
2023 and thereafter 9,531,585 

$ 16,343,402 

The actuarial valuation of the future liability for sick leave assumes a discount rate of 3.25% (2016  -
3.50%). The last actuarial valuation for this liability was completed at December 31, 2017. 

The actuarial expense for the current year was $2,709,894  (2016  - $2,656,186) and is comprised of the 
following items: 

2017 2016 

Current period benefit cost $ 1,129,334 $ 1,091,144 
Amortization of actuarial losses 795,085 795,085 

Sick leave benefit expense 1,924,419 1,886,229 
Sick leave benefit interest expense 785,475 769,957 

Total expenses related to sick leave benefits $ 2,709,894 $ 2,656,186 

As at December 31, 2017, the unamortized actuarial losses were $2,359,866 (2016  - $4,417,435) and are 
amortized over 10 to 13 years (2016 - 10 to 13 years). 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

12. Employee future benefits (continued)

b. Post-retirement benefits

The City pays certain health, dental and life insurance benefits on behalf of its retired employees up to the age 
of 65 if they have at least ten years of service with the City.  The amount of benefits paid during the year were 
$1,116,951 (2016 - $1,101,539). 

The City holds no reserve to meet this liability. 

The actuarial valuation of the future liability for post-retirement benefits assumes a discount rate of 3.25% 
(2016  - 3.75%) and inflation rates for benefit premiums of 4.0% to 6.5%  (2016  - 4.0% to 7.4%). The last 
actuarial valuation for this liability was completed at December 31, 2017. 

The actuarial expense for the year was $2,672,153  (2016  - $2,615,104) and is comprised of the following 
items: 

2017 2016 

Current period benefit cost $ 1,121,128 $ 1,093,831 
Amortization of actuarial losses 739,764 739,764 

Post-retirement benefit expense 1,860,892 1,833,595 
Post-retirement benefit interest expense 811,261 781,509 

Total expenses related to post-retirement benefits $ 2,672,153 $ 2,615,104 

As at December 31, 2017, the unamortized actuarial losses were $3,851,874 (2016  - $4,683,875) and are 
amortized over 11 to 13 years (2016 - 11 to 13 years). 

c. WSIB

The Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) administers injured worker benefits payments on behalf of 
the City as a Schedule 2 employer. The amount of benefits paid during the year were $785,400  (2016  -
$668,600). 

A reserve fund to provide for this liability is included in accumulated surplus, in the amount of $2,226,495 (2016 
- $1,463,983).

The actuarial valuation of the future liability for WSIB assumes a discount rate of 3.25% (2016 - 3.25%). The 
last actuarial valuation for this liability was completed at December 31, 2016. 

The actuarial expense for the current year was $1,820,200  (2016  - $1,700,600) and is comprised of the 
following items: 

2017 2016 

Current period benefit cost $ 1,229,800 $ 1,216,100 
Amortization of actuarial losses 203,600 186,700 

WSIB benefit expense 1,433,400 1,402,800 
WSIB benefit interest expense 311,200 297,800 
Plan amendments 75,600 -

Total expenses related to WSIB benefits $ 1,820,200 $ 1,700,600 

As at December 31, 2017, the unamortized actuarial losses were $1,410,300 (2016  - $525,300) and are 
amortized over 11 years (2016 - 13 years). 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

13. Tangible capital assets

The continuity schedule of tangible capital assets is presented in schedule A.

Assets under construction having a value of $45,194,743 (2016  - $18,719,217) have not been amortized.
Amortization of these assets will commence when the assets are put into service.

Contributed tangible capital assets of $582,656 (2016 - $4,404,349) have been recognized at fair market value
at the date of contribution. The contributed assets include land right of way as well as developer created linear
assets such as water, sanitary, storm, and road assets.

The write-down of tangible capital assets during the year was $nil (2016 - $nil).

The amount of interest capitalized was $nil (2016 - $nil).

14. Accumulated surplus

The accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surpluses/(deficits) and reserve funds as follows:

2017 2016 

Surplus:

Invested in tangible capital assets $ 1,111,359,528 $ 1,065,060,311 
Other (554,533) 518,199 
Equity in Kitchener Power Corp. and its affiliates 207,199,184 201,721,655 
Equity in Kitchener Generation Corporation 3,019,238 3,251,490 
Employee future benefits (unfunded) (45,900,158) (42,238,419) 

Total surplus 1,275,123,259 1,228,313,236 

Reserve funds set aside for specific purposes by Council for:

Capital 24,845,538 28,793,325 
Stabilization 15,563,634 6,212,167 
Program specific 10,348,180 10,422,750 
Corporate 8,249,804 7,500,643 

59,007,156 52,928,885 

Reserve funds set aside for specific purposes by consolidated
entities:

Kitchener Public Library 381,354 381,336 
Kitchener Downtown Business Improvement Area 50,000 50,000 
The Centre in the Square Inc. 1,270,516 1,330,110 

1,701,870 1,761,446 

Total reserve funds 60,709,026 54,690,331 

Accumulated surplus $ 1,335,832,285 $ 1,283,003,567 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

15. Contingent liabilities 

Legal actions have been undertaken against the City relating to a number of contract disputes and other 
matters. The outcome of these actions is not presently determinable. It is management’s opinion that the City’s 
insurance will adequately cover any potential liability arising from these contract disputes and other 
matters. Should any liability be determined and not covered by insurance it will be recognized in the period 
when it is determined. 

16. Segmented information 

The City of Kitchener is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide range of services to 
its citizens, including fire, roads, water, sewer, storm sewer, gasworks, libraries, and community services. 

Segmented information has been presented in Schedule B by major functional classification of activities 
provided, consistent with the Consolidated Statement of Operations and provincially legislated requirements. 

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly attributable to the 
segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis. 

The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements as disclosed in Note 1. 

17. Budget figures 

The budget figures reflected in these consolidated statements are those approved by Council at a meeting on 
January 23, 2017. Budget figures have been translated to reflect Public Sector Accounting Board standards. 

18. Comparative figures 

Certain of the prior year’s comparative figures have been restated to conform to the current year’s 
presentation. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Schedule A - Tangible Capital Assets 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

General Infrastructure 

Land Land 
Improvements 

Buildings Leasehold Machinery & 
Improvements Equipment 

Computer 
Software 

Computer 
Hardware 

Vehicles Land Buildings Linear Assets Assets Under 
Construction 

Total 

Cost 

Balance, beginning of 
year 

Additions 

Transfers 

Disposals 

$ 41,034,791 

21,823 

38,140 

(10,562) 

$ 42,946,079 

1,701,001 

(14,142) 

(777,775) 

$ 239,175,405 

6,097,109 

64,910 

104,084 

$ 3,054,251 $ 46,057,987 $ 

- 5,115,487 

- -

- (4,604,651) 

32,354,641 $

1,345,142 

38,000 

(666,722) 

7,294,544 $

1,485,292 

-

(1,191,436) 

23,430,790 

2,886,119 

-

(1,012,014) 

$ 149,181,981 $ 

87,781 

(38,139) 

(2,298,638) 

66,579,437 $ 852,171,823 

210,868 38,638,745 

- 10,918,872 

- (7,402,566) 

$ 18,719,217 

37,483,167 

(11,007,641) 

-

$1,522,000,946 

95,072,534 

-

(17,860,280) 

Balance, end of year 41,084,192 43,855,163 245,441,508 3,054,251 46,568,823 33,071,061 7,588,400 25,304,895 146,932,985 66,790,305 894,326,874 45,194,743 1,599,213,200 

Accumulated 
amortization 

Balance, beginning of 
year 

Transfers 

Disposals 

Amortization expense 

-

-

-

-

(13,995,057) 

380 

886,628 

(2,030,734) 

(106,394,291) 

-

(99,176) 

(6,725,837) 

(737,057) (21,926,787) 

- -

- 4,524,501 

(71,195) (4,380,873) 

(10,459,997) 

(380) 

653,736 

(3,158,205) 

(3,134,266) 

-

1,189,120 

(1,293,151) 

(9,571,173) 

-

977,646 

(2,081,883) 

-

-

-

-

(14,555,560) (276,166,447) 

- -

- 7,142,629 

(2,135,441) (24,310,802) 

-

-

-

-

(456,940,635) 

-

15,275,084 

(46,188,121) 

Balance, end of year - (15,138,783) (113,219,304) (808,252) (21,783,159) (12,964,846) (3,238,297) (10,675,410) - (16,691,001) (293,334,620) - (487,853,672) 

Net book value, end of 
year 41,084,192 28,716,380 132,222,204 2,245,999 24,785,664 20,106,215 4,350,103 14,629,485 146,932,985 50,099,304 600,992,254 45,194,743 1,111,359,528 

Net book value, 
beginning of year $ 41,034,791 $ 28,951,022 $ 132,781,114 $ 2,317,194 $ 24,131,200 $ 21,894,644 $ 4,160,278 $ 13,859,617 $ 149,181,981 $ 52,023,877 $ 576,005,376 $ 18,719,217 $1,065,060,311 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Schedule B - Segmented Information 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

General 
Government 

Protection Transportation Environmental 
Services Services Services 

Health 
Services 

Social and 
Family 

Services 

Recreation 
and Cultural 

Services 

Planning and 
Development 

Gasworks Total 

Revenue 

Taxation 

User fees and charges 

Grants 

Investment income 

Penalties and interest on taxes 

Development charge revenue recognized 

Share of net income of Kitchener Power Corp. and its affiliates 

Share of net income of Kitchener Generation 
Corporation 

Contributions of tangible capital assets 

Other 

$ 21,064,101 $ 

1,741,660 

101,377 

6,848,868 

3,247,419 

939,789 

9,347,693 

3,407 

-

791,026 

35,266,028 $ 16,063,816 $ 700,598 $ 

9,154,106 9,112,547 60,880,105 

- 6,416,656 1,843,410 

136,030 40,029 83,715 

- - -

3,449 1,536,323 2,874,426 

- - -

- - -

- 108,632 448,349 

111,706 151,798 1,753,648 

270,189 $ 

1,916,104 

-

291,872 

-

-

-

-

-

21,474 

1,351,487 $ 

486,413 

663,210 

2,103 

-

-

-

-

-

29,972 

38,765,145 $ 

23,662,352 

3,883,277 

149,140 

-

1,750,483 

-

-

25,675 

972,621 

6,245,646 $ 

3,352,360 

-

173,526 

-

198,997 

-

-

-

58,027 

- $ 

88,514,388 

-

203,416 

-

-

-

-

-

198,489 

119,727,010 

198,820,035 

12,907,930 

7,928,699 

3,247,419 

7,303,467 

9,347,693 

3,407 

582,656 

4,088,761 

Total revenue 

Operating expenses 

Salaries, wages and employee benefits 

Materials 

Long term debt interest 

Interfunctional and program support 

External transfers 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 

Loss (gain) on disposals of tangible capital assets 

44,085,340 

34,338,710 

14,516,103 

266,657 

(16,813,043) 

248,750 

6,897,625 

(18,202) 

44,671,319 33,429,801 68,584,251 

40,906,020 12,112,867 10,187,815 

3,316,252 7,429,750 7,623,542 

123,414 627,693 45,364 

1,801,225 2,392,267 4,305,079 

- 7,373 412,571 

1,108,034 13,305,958 9,481,282 

13,368 1,928,708 (750,433) 

2,499,639 

1,528,876 

384,027 

23,268 

207,418 

-

159,065 

(7,027) 

2,533,185 

2,000,064 

526,704 

-

51,562 

8,100 

75,343 

-

69,208,693 

39,223,795 

16,538,678 

1,354,638 

2,672,069 

2,235,816 

7,950,555 

(128,750) 

10,028,556 

6,154,962 

2,173,951 

738,447 

1,201,787 

2,382,593 

538,963 

(67,499) 

88,916,293 

5,527,080 

50,787,622 

-

4,181,636 

-

6,671,296 

218,571 

363,957,077 

151,980,189 

103,296,629 

3,179,481 

-

5,295,203 

46,188,121 

1,188,736 

Total expenses 39,436,600 47,268,313 37,804,616 31,305,220 2,295,627 2,661,773 69,846,801 13,123,204 67,386,205 311,128,359 

Annual surplus $ 4,648,740 $ (2,596,994) $ (4,374,815) $ 37,279,031 $ 204,012 $ (128,588) $ (638,108) $ (3,094,648) $ 21,530,088 $ 52,828,718 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
Schedule B - Segmented Information (Continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016 

General 
Government 

Protection Transportation Environmental 
Services Services Services 

Health 
Services 

Social and 
Family 

Services 

Recreation 
and Cultural 

Services 

Planning and 
Development 

Gasworks Total 

Revenue 

Taxation 

User fees and charges 

Grants 

Investment income 

Penalties and interest on taxes 

Development charge revenue recognized 

Share of net income of Kitchener Power Corp. and its affiliates 

Share of net income of Kitchener Generation 
Corporation 

Contributions of tangible capital assets 

Other 

$ 20,524,329 $ 

1,757,914 

149,479 

6,642,623 

3,250,779 

872,297 

9,593,078 

24,480 

-

564,901 

34,362,331 $ 15,587,462 $ 744,735 $ 

8,505,385 8,836,454 55,173,721 

- 4,430,985 483,326 

133,290 22,601 23,303 

- - -

29,282 884,553 6,241,864 

- - -

- - -

- 2,085,001 2,196,267 

415,939 965,296 2,490,947 

263,265 $ 

1,731,555 

-

276,118 

-

52,395 

-

-

-

14,066 

1,316,855 $ 

512,383 

685,409 

1,587 

-

-

-

-

-

19,517 

37,774,409 $ 

21,741,516 

362,117 

88,491 

-

1,953,087 

-

-

108,634 

743,062 

6,101,525 $ 

3,362,506 

-

133,518 

-

354,998 

-

-

-

448,009 

- $ 

74,320,186 

-

196,787 

-

-

-

-

14,447 

237,311 

116,674,911 

175,941,620 

6,111,316 

7,518,318 

3,250,779 

10,388,476 

9,593,078 

24,480 

4,404,349 

5,899,048 

Total revenue 

Operating expenses 

Salaries, wages and employee benefits 

Materials 

Long term debt interest 

Interfunctional and program support 

External transfers 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 

Loss (gain) on disposals of tangible capital assets 

43,379,880 

34,183,180 

14,856,716 

297,623 

(16,265,105) 

284,350 

5,557,171 

17,633 

43,446,227 32,812,352 67,354,163 

39,170,577 12,012,339 8,864,239 

3,199,704 7,900,603 8,619,156 

146,011 660,744 54,794 

1,725,225 2,488,334 3,874,291 

- 7,243 372,743 

1,077,502 13,198,023 8,180,294 

(27,789) (1,167,082) 46,532 

2,337,399 

1,489,632 

432,695 

23,129 

175,557 

-

142,905 

(6,693) 

2,535,751 

1,991,699 

548,341 

29,615 

68,818 

8,325 

75,343 

-

62,771,316 

38,021,886 

17,370,740 

1,472,171 

2,724,554 

1,807,195 

7,498,297 

(399,125) 

10,400,556 

6,239,771 

2,274,801 

850,252 

1,183,131 

1,734,100 

881,435 

(3,448) 

74,768,731 

5,250,500 

36,793,786 

-

4,025,195 

-

6,046,739 

67,779 

339,806,375 

147,223,823 

91,996,542 

3,534,339 

-

4,213,956 

42,657,709 

(1,472,193) 

Total expenses 38,931,568 45,291,230 35,100,204 30,012,049 2,257,225 2,722,141 68,495,718 13,160,042 52,183,999 288,154,176 

Annual surplus $ 4,448,312 $ (1,845,003) $ (2,287,852) $ 37,342,114 $ 80,174 $ (186,390) $ (5,724,402) $ (2,759,486) $ 22,584,732 $ 51,652,199 
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KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519-747-8800 
Fax 519-747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Mayor and Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Corporation of the City of Kitchener 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Trust Funds of 
the Corporation of the City of Kitchener, which comprise the balance sheet as at 
December 31, 2017 and the statement of continuity for the year then ended, and 
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
balance sheet of the Trust Funds of the Corporation of the City of Kitchener as at 
December 31, 2017, and its results of operations and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 
June 11, 2018 
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER TRUST
FUNDS 

Balance Sheet 
As at December 31, 2017 

2017 2016 

Assets

Accounts receivable 
Interest 
Investments (Note 2) 

Short-term 
Long-term 

$ 111,721 
71,338 

430,809 
14,093,782 

$ 257,387 
86,971 

2,832,603 
10,852,589 

14,707,650 14,029,550 

Fund Balance $14,707,650 $14,029,550 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER TRUST
FUNDS 

Statement of Continuity 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

2017 2016 

Receipts

Perpetual care $ 397,885 $ 419,451 
Interest earned 441,122 416,093 
Other 129,008 194,913 

968,015 1,030,457 

Expenditures

Transfer to cemeteries operations 289,915 274,663 

289,915 274,663 

Net change in fund 678,100 755,794 

Balance, beginning of year 14,029,550 13,273,756 

Balance, end of year $ 14,707,650 $ 14,029,550 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER TRUST 
FUNDS 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles for local government as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada. The significant accounting policies are summarized below. 

a. Basis of Accounting 

Sources of financing and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of 
accounting recognizes receipts as they become available and measurable; expenditures are recognized as 
they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal 
obligation to pay. 

2. Investments 

The long-term investments of $14,093,782 (2016 - $10,852,589) reported on the Balance Sheet at cost, have a 
market value of $14,486,160 (2016 - $11,508,917). 

3. Statement of Cash Flow 

A separate statement of cash flow is not presented, since cash flow from operating, investing and financing 
activities are readily apparent from the other financial statements. 
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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER TRUST FUNDS
Schedule of Continuity by Fund 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

Balance 
December 31, 

2016 
Perpetual Care 

Funds
Interest Earned Other Receipts Transfer Interest 

to Cemeteries 
Disbursements 

Balance 
December 31, 

2017 

Perpetual care 

Mount Hope Cemetery 

Woodland Cemetery 

Bridgeport Cemetery 

Williamsburg Cemetery 

St. Peter's Cemetery 

Cemetery Trusts 

F. E. Tremain 

Florence V. Cober 

L. F. Glick

Edna Atherton

George Wright Estate

E. L. Goetz

E. Weiderhold 

Prepaid Interments

$

$

593,494 $

4,919,372 

155,000 

2,971,438 

492,981 

15,550 

8,783 

20,664 

1,331 

42,614 

1,357 

38,065 

4,768,901 

14,029,550 $

1,472 $

96,058 

1,008 

299,090 

257 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

397,885 $

18,245 $

152,208 

4,767 

95,624 

15,133 

477 

269 

634 

41 

1,307 

42 

1,168 

151,207 

441,122 $

850 $ 18,245 $

8,722 152,208 

50 4,767 

24,657 95,624 

400 15,133 

- 477 

- 269 

- 634 

- 41 

- 1,307 

- 42 

- 1,168 

94,329 -

129,008 $ 289,915 $

- $

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- $

595,816 

5,024,152 

156,058 

3,295,185 

493,638 

15,550 

8,783 

20,664 

1,331 

42,614 

1,357 

38,065 

5,014,437 

14,707,650 
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KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519-747-8800 
Fax 519-747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of the Belmont Improvement Area Board of Management 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Belmont 
Improvement Area Board of Management, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2017, the statements of revenue and 
expenses and accumulated surplus and change in net financial assets for the 
year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Belmont Improvement Area Board of Management as at 
December 31, 2017, and its results of operations and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 
June 11, 2018 
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BELMONT IMPROVEMENT AREA BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT 

Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2017 

2017 2016 

Financial assets

Cash $ 44,930 $ 40,781 
Accounts receivable 775 -

45,705 40,781 

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,098 7,764 

Net financial assets 38,607 33,017 

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 2) 2,195 2,823 
Prepaid expenses 703 664 

2,898 3,487 

Net assets 41,505 36,504 

Accumulated Surplus

Accumulated net revenue 39,310 33,681 
Invested in tangible capital assets 2,195 2,823 

Total accumulated surplus $ 41,505 $ 36,504 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

50



BELMONT IMPROVEMENT AREA BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT 

Statement of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

2017 2016 

Revenue

Assessments $ 40,235 $ 40,671 
Other revenue 2,732 1,508 

42,967 42,179 

Expenses 
Streetscaping 3,231 2,320 
Audit 1,808 1,808 
Summer maintenance 7,282 5,267 
Insurance 1,471 1,407 
Winter maintenance 15,930 19,069 
Advertising 2,691 489 
Miscellaneous 4,925 3,699 
Amortization 628 923 

37,966 34,982 

Net surplus for year 5,001 7,197 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 36,504 29,307 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 41,505 $ 36,504 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BELMONT IMPROVEMENT AREA BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT 

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

2017 2016 

Net surplus for year 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of prepaid expenses 

$ 5,001 
-

628 
(39)

$ 7,197 
(3,135) 

923 
(19) 

Change in net financial assets

Net financial assets, beginning of year 
5,590 

33,017 
4,966 

28,051 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 38,607 $ 33,017 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BELMONT IMPROVEMENT AREA BOARD OF 
MANAGEMENT 

Notes to Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The financial statements of the Belmont Improvement Area Board of Management are the representation of 
management and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants. Since precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future 
events, the preparation of periodic financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates and 
approximations. These have been made using careful judgment. The following is a summary of the significant 
accounting policies followed in the preparation of these financial statements: 

a) Tangible capital assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly attributable to 
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The cost less residual value of the 
tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Assets Amortization Period 

Equipment 5 Years 

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal. Assets under 
construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at time of receipt and 
are recorded as revenue. 

b) Accrual basis of accounting 

Revenue and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting 
recognizes revenue as it becomes available and measurable; expenses are recognized as they are 
incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal obligation 
to pay. 

2. Tangible Capital Assets 

Accumulated Net Book 
Cost Amortization Value 

Opening balance $ 9,237 $ (6,414) $ 2,823 

Additions 

Amortization expense - (628) (628) 
Disposals 

Ending balance $ 9,237 $ (7,042) $ 2,195 

3. Statement of cash flow 

A separate statement of cash flow is not presented, since cash flow from operating, investing and financing 
activities are readily apparent from the other financial statements. 

532017 KITCHENER FINANCIAL REPORT



 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519-747-8800 
Fax 519-747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Kitchener Downtown 
Improvement Area Board of Management, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2017, the statements of revenue and 
expenses and accumulated surplus and changes in net financial assets for the 
year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Kitchener Downtown Improvement Area Board of 
Management as at December 31, 2017, and its results of operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 
April 25, 2018 
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KITCHENER DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA 

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 
Statement of Financial Position 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Financial Assets 

Cash $ 106,473 $ 84,423 
Term deposits (note 2) 112,135 111,594 
Accounts receivable 34,990 23,065 
Prepaid expenses 6,926 6,867 

Financial Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued charges 
Due to the City of Kitchener (note 4) 

Net financial assets 

260,524 

77,989 
34,361 

112,350 

148,174 

225,949 

111,033 
46,560 

157,593 

68,356 

Non-Financial Assets 

Tangible capital assets (note 5) 

Net assets $ 

57,833 

206,007 $ 

77,552 

145,908 

Accumulated Surplus 

Reserve for rate stabilization 
Accumulated net revenue 
Invested in tangible capital assets 

Total accumulated surplus 

$ 

$ 

50,000 
98,174 
57,833 

206,007 

$ 

$ 

50,000 
18,356 
77,552 

145,908 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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KITCHENER DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA 
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 

Statement of Revenue and Expenses and Accumulated Surplus 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

Budget 
2017 

Actual 
2017 

Actual 
2016 

Revenue: 
Assessments $ 1,082,000 $ 1,082,021 $ 1,081,831 
Interest - 396 1,195 
Other income - 34,455 93,733 

1,082,000 1,116,872 1,176,759 

Expenses: 
Promotions and advertising 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Administration 

308,000 
424,735 
98,265 

281,458 
430,987 
138,060 

437,375 
476,065 
115,547 

Meetings and seminars 
Safety and beautification 
Member relations 

5,000 
160,000 

7,000 

5,074 
142,224 

4,890 

7,696 
136,265 

7,439 
Amortization - 19,719 19,173 

1,003,000 1,022,412 1,199,560 

Net revenue (expense) before other items 79,000 94,460 (22,801) 

Net assessment write-offs (note 4) 34,000 34,361 46,560 

Net revenue (expense) 45,000 60,099 (69,361) 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 145,908 145,908 215,269 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 190,908 $ 206,007 $ 145,908 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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KITCHENER DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA 
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Net revenue (expense) 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 

$ 60,099 

-

19,719 

$ (69,361) 

(25,002) 

19,173 

Change in net financial assets 

Net financial assets, beginning of year 

79,818 

68,356 

(75,190) 

143,546 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 148,174 $ 68,356 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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KITCHENER DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA 
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities: 
Net revenue (expense) 
Item not involving cash: 

Amortization 
Changes in non-cash assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Due to/from City of Kitchener 

Cash from operating activities 

$ 60,099 

19,719 

(11,925) 
(59) 

(33,044) 
(12,199) 
22,591 

$ (69,361) 

19,173 

9,370 
(3,550) 
36,295 

9,200 
1,127 

Investing activities: 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Redemption (purchase) of investments 
Cash used in investing activities 

-
(541) 
(541) 

(25,002) 
105,435 
80,433 

Increase in cash 22,050 81,560 

Cash, beginning of year 84,423 2,863 

Cash, end of year $ 106,473 $ 84,423 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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KITCHENER DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA 
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies: 

Kitchener Downtown Improvement Area Board of Management (the “Board”) is established for 
the main purpose of revitalizing the Central Business District of the City of Kitchener. It is 
designated as a Business Improvement Area (BIA) through the Ontario Municipal Act and a City 
of Kitchener by-law enacted in 1977. 

The financial statements of the Board are the representation of management and have been 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for local 
governments, as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian 
Professional Accountants. Since precise determination of many assets and liabilities is 
dependent upon future events, the preparation of periodic financial statements necessarily 
involves the use of estimates and approximations. These have been made using careful 
judgment. 

(a) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly 
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The cost, 
less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land and landfill sites, are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Asset Useful Life - Years 

Computers 4 years 
Furniture and fixtures 7 years 
Leasehold improvements 7 years 
Event equipment 10 years 

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal. Assets 
under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of 
receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 

(b) Accrual basis of accounting: 

The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and 
measurable; expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of 
receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 
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KITCHENER DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA 
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 

Notes to Financial Statements, page 2 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Revenue recognition: 

Revenues are recognized as follows: 

The Board Assessment revenue is recorded on an annual basis using the proportionate 
share of the total number of businesses for the year and an annually established rate per 
business. Revenue is recognized when assessed. 

Other revenues are recorded upon sale of goods or provision of service when collection is 
reasonably assured. 

2. Term deposits: 

The term deposits consist of the following: 

Principal Maturity Rate 

$ 50,451 March 29, 2018 0.40% 
50,903 April 6, 2018 0.80% 
10,639 April 25, 2018 0.60% 

3. Commitments: 

During 2016, the Board executed a new lease agreement. The lease expires on June 30, 2021. 
The Board is committed to the following minimum payments under the agreement: 

2018 $ 35,538 
2019 35,538 
2020 35,538 
2021 35,538 

4. City of Kitchener: 

The Board receives assessment income from the City of Kitchener for its operations. During the 
year, assessment write-offs were incurred for $34,361 (2016 - $46,560). The 2016 amount was 
paid to the City of Kitchener in 2017. 
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KITCHENER DOWNTOWN IMPROVEMENT AREA BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 
Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

5. Tangible capital assets:

Opening 
balance Additions 

Disposals/ 
Transfers 

Write- 
downs 

Balance, 
end of 

year 

Accumulated 
amortization, 

beginning 
of year 

Net 
book value, 

beginning 
of year Deletions Amortization 

Accumulated 
amortization, 

end of 
year 

Net 
book value, 

end of 
year 

Computers 

Furniture 

Leasehold 

Improvements 
Event equipment 

$ 23,155 

66,396 

3,498 

48,175 

$ -

-

-

-

$ -

-

-

-

$ -

-

-

-

$ 23,155 

66,396 

3,498 

48,175 

$ 16,363 

34,854 

3,000 

9,455 

$ 6,792 

31,542 

498 

38,720 

$ -

-

-

-

$ 3,121 

9,356 

498 

6,744 

$ 19,484 

44,210 

3,498 

16,199 

$ 3,671 

22,186 

-

31,976 

$ 141,224 $ - $ - $ - $ 141,224 $ 63,672 $ 77,552 $ - $ 19,719 $ 83,391 $ 57,833
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KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519-747-8800 
Fax 519-747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the members of the Kitchener Public Library Board 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Kitchener Public 
Library, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 
2017 and the statements of revenues, expenses and accumulated net revenue, 
cash flows and changes in net financial assets for the year then ended, and 
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (�KPMG International�), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Kitchener Public Library as at December 31, 2017, and its 
results of operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 

March 21, 2018 

64



2017 KITCHENER FINANCIAL REPORT

  

  

KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Assets 

Cash 
Accounts receivable 
Investments 
Endowment investments 
Prepaid expenses 
Due from City of Kitchener 

$ 1,333,546 $ 
68,482 
50,000 

100,000 
25,325 

144,461 
1,721,814 

1,266,477 
72,757 
50,000 

-
-

168,419 
1,557,653 

Financial Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Deferred revenue (note 2) 

482,027 
758,433 

1,240,460 

490,457 
685,860 

1,176,317 

Net financial assets 481,354 381,336 

Non-Financial Assets 

Tangible capital assets (note 3) 6,125,603 6,363,535 

$ 6,606,957 $ 6,744,871 

Accumulated Surplus 

Invested in tangible capital assets 
Endowment investments 
Reserves 

6,125,603 
100,000 
381,354 

6,363,535 
-

381,336 

$ 6,606,957 $ 6,744,871 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

On behalf of the Board: 

Director 

Director 
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KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Accumulated Net Revenue 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 
Budget 2017 2016 

Revenues 
Grants: 

Province of Ontario 
City of Kitchener: 

Operating 
Capital and special (note 4) 
Special grants (note 5) 

Fines 
Endowment investment 

contributions 
Interest and miscellaneous 
Partnerships 
Room rental 
Photocopy 

$ 286,755 $ 

10,611,172 
-
-

220,000 

-
26,000 
27,400 
32,000 
35,000 

11,238,327 

286,755 $ 

10,611,172 
627,144 
200,084 
218,296 

100,000 
36,798 
27,757 
37,773 
40,994 

12,186,773 

286,755 

10,423,548 
1,068,083 

128,250 
227,772 

-
25,797 
27,377 
33,896 
35,949 

12,257,427 

Expenses 
Personnel costs (Schedule 1) 
Resource materials 
Equipment (Schedule 2) 
Administrative(Schedule 3) 
Facilities costs (Schedule 4) 
Processing/bindery 
Programs and publicity 

(Schedule 5) 
General library equipment 
Expenditures related to capital 

and special (note 4) 
Required expenditures related to 

special grants (note 5) 

8,639,863 
1,207,900 

247,500 
183,150 
756,564 
117,000 

76,500 
9,850 

-

-

11,238,327 

8,555,081 
1,471,028 

692,934 
206,857 
753,621 
119,881 

67,979 
7,689 

249,533 

200,084 
12,324,687 

8,499,175 
1,488,435 

619,634 
188,987 
727,277 
118,469 

54,217 
5,914 

413,158 

128,250 
12,243,516 

Net revenue (deficit) - (137,914) 13,911 

Accumulated net revenue, beginning of year 6,744,871 6,730,960 

Accumulated net revenue, end of year $ 6,606,957 $ 6,744,871 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

66



2017 KITCHENER FINANCIAL REPORT

KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Operating activities: 
Net revenue (deficit) 
Item not involving cash: 

Amortization 
Change in non-cash operating working capital 

Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses 
Due from City of Kitchener 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Deferred revenue 
Cash flows from operating activities 

$ (137,914) 

1,522,113 

4,275 
(25,325) 
23,958 
(8,430) 
72,573 

1,451,250 

$ 13,911 

1,525,955 

53,030 
-

98,315 
(86,552) 
52,392 

1,657,051 

Capital activities: 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,284,181) (1,539,794) 

Investing activities: 
Investments 
Endowment investments 

-
(100,000) 
(100,000) 

(50,000) 
-

(50,000) 

Increase in cash 67,069 67,257 

Cash, beginning of year 1,266,477 1,199,220 

Cash, end of year $ 1,333,549 $ 1,266,477 
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KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Excess of revenue over expenses $ (137,914) $ 13,911 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,284,181) (1,539,794) 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,522,113 1,525,955 

Change in net financial assets, before the undernoted 100,018 72 

Receipt of endowment investment (100,000) -

Change in net financial assets 18 72 

Restriction of endowment investment 100,000 -

Net financial assets, beginning of year 381,336 381,264 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 481,354 $ 381,336 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

Kitchener Public Library (the "Board") was incorporated as a not-for-profit organization, without share 
capital, under the laws of Ontario.  It is a Board of the City of Kitchener (the "City") and is dependent 
on the City for a significant portion of its operating and capital funding. 

The Board contributes to the community as a resource and a gateway with sources of information 
and works of imagination. 

The financial statements of the Board are the representation of management and have been 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for local 
governments, as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants.  Since precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent 
upon future events, the preparation of periodic financial statements necessarily involves the use of 
estimates and approximations.  These have been made using careful judgments.  The following is a 
summary of the significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of these financial 
statements. 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Accrual basis of accounting: 

The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and 
measurable; expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result 
of receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(b) Investments: 

Investments consist of bonds and are recorded at amortized cost. Discounts and premiums 
arising on the purchase of these investments are amortized over the term of the 
investments. When there has been a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline in 
value, the respective investment is written down to recognize the loss. 

(c) Endowment investments: 

Endowment investments recieved are recorded as financial assets which have the principal 
restricted for use. 

Income earned on the endowment is used for the purpose specified by the donor. Any 
unspent funds earned during the year are deferred for future use. 
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KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly 
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost, 
less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10 - 30 years 
Specialty and other equipment 8 years 
Computer 3 - 10 years 
Books and audio visual resources 2 - 10 years 

2. Deferred revenue: 

Deferred revenue represents the annual Board's approval of the appropriation of unspent funds, 
and are subject to external restrictions as to how the funds are disbursed. These appropriations 
are included in required expenses and are subsequently charged directly to operations when 
spent. 
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KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

3. Tangible capital assets:

2017 

Books and audio visual 

resources 

Computer 

Furniture fixtures and 

equipment 

Other equipment and 

vehicle 

Opening 
balance 

$ 9,105,695 

2,178,602 

2,018,101 

70,806 

$ 13,373,204 

$ 

$ 

Additions 

983,912 

253,048 

47,221 

-

1,284,181 

Disposals 

$ (1,398,576) 

(45,224) 

-

-

$ (1,443,800) 

Balance, 
end of 

year 

$ 8,691,031 

2,386,426 

2,065,322 

70,806 

$ 13,213,585 

Accumulated 
amortization, 
beginning of 

year 

$ 5,212,173 

1,197,872 

537,779 

61,845 

$ 7,009,669 

Amortization 

$ 1,091,565 

285,696 

141,700 

3,152 

$ 1,522,113 

Disposals 

$ (1,398,576) 

(45,224) 

-

-

$ (1,443,800) 

Accumulated 
amortization, 

end of 
year 

$ 4,905,162 

1,438,344 

679,479 

64,997 

$ 7,087,982 

$ 

$ 

Net book 
value, 
end of 

year 

3,785,869 

948,082 

1,385,843 

5,809 

6,125,603 

2016 

Books and audio visual 

resources 

Computer 

Furniture fixtures and 

equipment 

Other equipment and 

vehicle 

Opening 
balance 

$ 9,510,634 

1,837,149 

2,004,646 

70,806 

$ 13,423,235 

$ 

$ 

Additions 

1,027,337 

436,352 

76,105 

-

1,539,794 

Disposals 

$ (1,432,276) 

(94,899) 

(62,650) 

-

$ (1,589,825) 

Balance, 
end of 

year 

$ 9,105,695 

2,178,602 

2,018,101 

70,806 

$ 13,373,204 

Accumulated 
amortization, 
beginning of 

year 

$ 5,523,942 

1,029,828 

461,076 

58,693 

$ 7,073,539 

Amortization 

$ 1,120,507 

262,943 

139,353 

3,152 

$ 1,525,955 

Disposals 

$ (1,432,276) 

(94,899) 

(62,650) 

-

$ (1,589,825) 

Accumulated 
amortization, 

end of 
year 

$ 5,212,173 

1,197,872 

537,779 

61,845 

$ 7,009,669 

$ 

$ 

Net book 
value, 
end of 

year 

3,893,522 

980,730 

1,480,322 

8,961 

6,363,535 
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KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

4. Capital and special grants: 

Each year, the City approves capital and special grants for the Board to purchase specific capital 
items. 

The capital grants approved for 2017 included $327,082 for general renovations, maintenance 
and upgrading of existing facilities, $279,262 for communication infrastructure and technology 
upgrades and $27,000 for KPL Accessibility Fund. 

The portion of these grants and previous year grants that are included in revenue in 2017, is 
$598,208 (2016 - $890,116). 

5. Special grants: 

In 2017, the Board received various special non-recurring grants and donations totaling 
$271,432 (2016 - $182,235).  The portion of these grants and previous year special grants that 
are included in revenue in 2017, is $200,084 (2016 - $128,250).  The remainder is included in 
deferred revenue. 

6. Pension plan: 

The Board makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Systems 
(OMERS), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of its staff.  The plan is a defined benefit 
plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees based 
on the length of service and rate of pay. 

During the year, the Board incurred expenses equal to $596,824 (2016 - $596,969) for current 
service on behalf of its staff. 
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KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Schedules of Personnel, Equipment, Administrative, Facilities and Programs and Publicity Expenses 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Schedule 1 - Personnel 

Personnel: 
Salaries 
Health benefits 
Pension benefits 
Employment insurance 
WSIB 
Sick leave reserve 
Staff training 

$ 6,957,267 
450,844 
877,930 
129,962 
21,824 
70,000 
47,254 

$ 6,893,901 
450,786 
878,295 
151,142 
22,710 
66,000 
36,341 

$ 8,555,081 $ 8,499,175 

Schedule 2 - Equipment 

Equipment: 
Technology 
Equipment maintenance 
Amortization 

$ 241,148 
21,238 

430,548 

$ 198,068 
16,117 

405,448 

$ 692,934 $ 619,633 

Schedule 3 - Administrative 

Administrative: 
Postage and delivery 
Insurance 
Professional services 
General business 
Telephone 
Stationery 

$ 7,347 
18,835 
48,505 
55,063 
25,360 
51,747 

$ 7,294 
18,466 
43,867 
49,096 
24,776 
45,488 

$ 206,857 $ 188,987 

Schedule 4 - Facilities 

Facilities: 
Facilities expenses 
Country Hills building 
Main utilities 
Forest Heights utilities 
Pioneer Park building 
Grand River Stanley Park building 

$ 387,952 
49,386 

266,282 
23,828 
23,129 
3,044 

$ 370,296 
45,055 

262,870 
20,174 
25,111 
3,771 

$ 753,621 $ 727,277 
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KITCHENER PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Schedule 5 - Programs and Publicity 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Programs and publicity: 
Promotional 
Public programs 

$ 36,810 
31,169 

$ 27,687 
26,530 

$ 67,979 $ 54,217 
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KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519-747-8800 
Fax 519-747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Directors of The Centre In The Square Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Centre In The 
Square Inc., which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2017, the statements of operations, changes in net financial assets 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of  
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of The Centre In The Square Inc. as at December 31, 2017, 
and its results of operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 
March 28, 2018 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC.
Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

Net Assets 
Financial assets: 

Cash 
Due from (to) The City of Kitchener 
Accounts receivable 
Interest receivable 
Costs to be recovered 
Investments (note 3) 
Total financial assets 

Financial liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Deferred revenue (note 4) 

Net financial assets 

Non-financial assets: 
Tangible capital assets (note 5) 
Inventories (note 6) 
Prepaid expenses 

Net assets 

2017 2016 
(restated – note 2) 

$ 3,438,579 $ 3,885,724 
579,928 (42,392) 
203,233 163,118 

1,389 1,242 
366,072 162,429 

1,371,508 1,311,384 
5,960,709 5,481,505 

2,324,593 1,287,942 
2,652,048 3,141,323 
4,976,641 4,429,265 

984,068 1,052,240 

11,853,760 8,401,280 
61,758 51,494 

224,690 226,376 
12,140,208 8,679,150 

$ 13,124,276 $ 9,731,390 

Accumulated Surplus 
Operating fund activities (note 7) 
Reserves - Capital (notes 8 and 12) 
Reserves - Performance Development (note 9) 
Reserves - Sustainability (notes 9 and 12) 
Reserves - Restricted (notes 10 and 12) 
Invested in tangible capital assets 

Accumulated surplus 

$ - $ -
508,111 765,447 

- -
203,538 62,686 
558,867 501,977 

11,853,760 8,401,280 

$ 13,124,276 $ 9,731,390 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

On behalf of the Board: 

   Director 

   Director 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC. 
Statement of Operations 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

Budget 2017 Actual 2017 Actual 2016 
(restated – note 2) 

Revenues: 
Performances $ 6,363,021 $ 7,006,860 $ 6,613,377 
Rent - Kitchener-Waterloo Symphony 105,320 98,170 105,855 
Capital reserve fund surcharge (note 8) 315,000 330,202 309,753 
Grants from The City of Kitchener - Operating 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 
Grants from The City of Kitchener - Capital 3,232,969 2,655,965 219,294 
Grants from other governments - Operating 17,700 40,993 21,150 
Grants from other governments - Capital 1,206,208 1,006,552 121,365 
Donations 2,000 10,240 15,619 
Investment income 64,000 60,402 52,660 
Sponsorships and memberships 170,630 102,293 104,117 
Rent - Kitchener-Waterloo Art Gallery 97,240 97,240 95,520 
Lottery revenue - 7,666 6,942  
Other 172,225 216,914 134,282 
Gain on investments - 44,712 3,565 
Gain (loss) gain on sale of assets - 3,000 (32,975) 
Portion of operating gain for The City 

of Kitchener - (139,217) (62,060) 
Total revenue 13,746,313 13,541,992 9,708,464 

Expenses: 
Direct: 

Performances 5,618,120 5,793,426 5,806,354 
Operating: 

Administration 425,000 450,363 398,848 
Marketing 101,050 114,123 174,263 
Lottery expenses - 7,648 6,942 
Occupancy 813,187 771,013 706,418 
Salaries and wages 2,561,051 3,154,549 2,905,787 
Recoveries - performances (568,458) (964,513) (1,004,214) 

Amortization 700,000 805,779 513,909 
Write down of tangible capital assets 612,500 11,863 30,062 
Reserves expenditures (note 12) 15,000 4,855 9,320 
Total expenses 10,277,450 10,149,106 9,547,689 

Excess of revenue over expenses 3,468,863 3,392,886 160,775 

Accumulated surplus as previously 
stated, beginning of year 9,613,315 9,613,315 9,438,933 

Prior period adjustment (note 2) 118,075 118,075 131,682 
Accumulated surplus restated, beginning of year 9,713,390 9,731,390 9,570,615 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 13,200,253 $ 13,124,276 $ 9,731,390 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC.
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 
(restated – note 2) 

Excess of revenue over expenses 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 
Write-downs of tangible capital assets 

$ 3,392,886 
(4,270,122) 

805,779 
11,863 

(59,594) 

$ 160,775 
(292,690) 
513,909 

30,062 
412,056 

Net acquisition of supplies inventory 
Use (acquisition) of prepaid expenses 

(10,264) 
1,686 

(8,578) 

(2,936) 
(59,550) 
(62,486) 

Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (68,172) 349,570 

Net financial assets, beginning of year 1,052,240 702,670 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 984,068 $ 1,052,240 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC.
Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 
(restated – note 2) 

Operating activities: 
Excess of revenue over expenses 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization 
Write down of tangible capital assets 

Change in non-cash operating working capital 
Cash provided by operating activities 

$ 3,392,886 

805,779 
11,863 

(327,427) 
3,883,101 

$ 160,775 

513,909 
30,062 

614,047 
1,318,793 

Capital activities: 
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (4,270,122) (292,690) 

Investing activities: 
Investments (60,124) (765,908) 

Increase (decrease) in cash (447,145) 260,195 

Cash, beginning of year 3,885,724 3,625,529 

Cash, end of year $ 3,438,579 $ 3,885,724 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

The mission of The Centre In The Square Inc. (“The Centre”), is to create memorable experiences. It 
is incorporated as a not-for-profit corporation without share capital, is exempt from income taxes 
under the Income Tax Act, and is a registered charity. The Centre is a governed by a Board of 
Directors and receives an operating grant from the City of Kitchener (“the City”). 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The financial statements of The Centre are the representation of management and have been 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for local 
governments, as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants. Since precise determination of many assets and liabilities is 
dependent upon future events, the preparation of periodic financial statements necessarily 
involves the use of estimates and approximations. These have been made using careful 
judgment. 

(a) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly 
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The cost, 
less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, are amortized on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Asset Rate 

Building 9 - 100 years 
Equipment 4 - 50 years 
Computers 5 - 14 years 
Software 3 years 
Site 10 - 50 years 

(b) Accrual basis of accounting: 

The accrual basis of accounting, recognizes revenues as they become available and 
measurable; expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of 
receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Inventories: 

Bar stock inventories are valued at the most recent replacement cost. Supplies inventories 
are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value on a first-in, first-out basis. Net 
realizable value is defined as replacement cost. 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(d) Investments:

Investments are recorded at the lower of cost or market value on a fund portfolio basis.
Interest income and all expenses are fully accrued.

(e) Deferred revenue:

Performance revenue is recognized when the show occurs. Deferred gift certificate revenue
is an estimate based upon gift certificate sales during the period from July 1 to December 31
of the current year.

2. Prior year adjustment:

During the year, The Centre adjusted their accounting records for tangible capital assets that had
previously been written off in error but are still in use as of December 31, 2017.

This adjustment is applied retrospectively and is detailed below.

Statement of Financial Position
As previously Restated as at 

presented Restatements December 31, 2016 

Tangible capital assets $ 8,283,205 $ 118,075 $ 8,401,280 
Invested in tangible capital assets 8,283,205 118,075 8,401,280 

Statement of Operations 
As previously Restated as at 

presented Restatements December 31, 2016 

Amortization $ 500,302 $ 13,607 $ 513,909 

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
As previously Restated as at 

presented Restatements December 31, 2016 

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 174,382 $ (13,607) $ 160,775 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 500,302 13,607 513,909 

Statement of Cash Flows 
As previously Restated as at 

presented Restatements December 31, 2016 

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 174,382 $ (13,607) $ 160,775 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 500,302 13,607 513,909 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

3. Investments:

Investments consist of:

Carrying value 
2017 

Market 
2017 

Carrying value 
2016 

Market 
2016 

Shares 
Bonds 
Cash 
GIC 

$ 332,758 
270,267 

4,852 
763,631 

$ 514,227 
266,707 

4,852 
763,631 

$ 287,276 
214,344 
54,068 

755,696 

$ 468,924 
214,202 
54,068 

755,696 

$ 1,371,508 $ 1,549,417 $ 1,311,384 $ 1,492,890 

4. Deferred revenue:

Deferred revenue consists of the following:

2017 2016 

Sponsorships 
Performances 
Gift certificates 
Membership 
Other 
Lottery 

$ 24,167 
2,312,882 

41,015 
6,346 

267,638 
-

$ 23,750 
1,985,048 

46,069 
2,897 

1,078,775 
4,784 

$ 2,652,048 $ 3,141,323 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

5. Tangible capital assets (restated – note 2):

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals 

Balance, 
end of 

year 

Accumulated 
amortization, 

beginning 
of year 

Net 
book value, 

beginning 
of year Deletions Amortization 

Accumulated 
amortization, 

end of 
year 

Net 
book value, 

end of 
year 

Land $ 975,300 $ - $ - $ 975,300 $ - $ 975,300 $ - $ - $ - $ 975,300

Building 8,615,931 747,025 (29,322) 9,333,634 4,142,521 4,473,410 (28,296) 289,028 4,403,253 4,930,381 

Equipment 5,609,052 1,341,987 (558,847) 6,392,192 3,784,213 1,824,839 (550,326) 385,772 3,619,659 2,772,533 

Computers 231,557 11,708 (15,921) 227,344 156,149 75,408 (13,605) 27,873 170,417 56,927 

Software 155,849 - - 155,849 155,849 - - - 155,849 -

Site 1,939,471 91,147 - 2,030,618 887,148 1,052,323 - 103,106 990,254 1,040,364 

Work in progress - 2,078,255 - 2,078,255 - - - - - 2,078,255

$17,527,160 $ 4,270,122 $ (604,090) $ 21,193,192 $ 9,125,880 $ 8,401,280 $ (592,227) $ 805,779 $ 9,339,432 $ 11,853,760 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

6. Inventories:

Inventories consist of the following:

2017 2016 

Bar stock 
Supplies 

$ 56,952 
4,806 

$ 50,610 
884 

$ 61,758 $ 51,494 

7. Operating fund activities:

Budget 
2017 

Actual 
2017 

Actual 
2016 

Revenues: 
Performances 
Rent - Kitchener-Waterloo Symphony 
Grants from City of Kitchener 
Grants, other Governments and Foundations 
Donations 
Investment income 
Sponsorships and memberships 
Rent - Kitchener-Waterloo Art Gallery 
Lottery revenue 
Other 
Total revenue 

$ 6,363,021 
105,320 

2,000,000 
17,700 

-
24,000 

170,630 
97,240 

-
172,225 

8,950,136 

$ 7,006,860 
98,170 

2,000,000 
40,993 
7,913 

26,994 
102,293 
97,240 
7,666 

216,914 

9,605,043 

$ 6,613,377 
105,855 

2,000,000 
21,150  
13,403 
23,872 

104,117 
95,520 
6,942 

134,282 
9,118,518 

Current fund expenditures: 
Direct: 

Performances 
Operating: 

Administration 
Marketing 
Lottery expenses 
Occupancy 
Salaries and wages 
Recoveries - performances 

Total current fund expenditures 

5,618,120 

425,000 
101,050 

-
813,187 

2,561,051 
(568,458) 

8,949,950 

5,793,426 

450,363 
114,123 

7,648 
771,013 

3,154,549 
(964,513) 

9,326,609 

5,806,354 

398,848 
174,263 

6,942 
706,418 

2,905,787 
(1,004,214) 
8,994,398 

Operating fund net revenues before amortization 186 278,434 124,120 

Transfer (to) from reserve funds (186) (139,217) (62,060) 

Transfer (to) from the City of Kitchener - (139,217) (62,060) 

Fund balances, end of year $ - $ - $ -
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC. 
Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

8. Capital Reserve Fund Surcharge: 

The Capital Reserve Fund represents the collection of a surcharge from sale of tickets. 

At the direction of the Board of Directors, expenditures from the Capital Reserve Fund are made 
to finance, in whole or in part, major capital items, replacements and major maintenance projects. 

In 2017, the Centre’s Board of Directors approved transfers out of the Capital Reserve Fund for 
major capital asset projects $4,270,122 (2016 - ($292,690)). 

9. Performance Development and Sustainability Reserve Funds: 

At the direction of the Board of Directors, transfers are made to and from the Performance 
Development Reserve and Sustainability Funds, equal to one-half of the annual operating net 
revenue. 

In 2017, The Centre’s Board of Directors approved the transfer of the funds to the Sustainability 
Fund of $139,217 (2016 - $62,686) from the operating fund. 

10. Restricted Fund: 

The Restricted Fund was set up by the Board of Directors of The Centre in 2000 by a transfer of 
investments from the Sustainability Reserve Fund in accordance with the Restricted Fund Policy. 
Income from this fund is to be used for capital requirements, special projects and/or new 
programming initiatives that help further The Centre’s mandate. 

11. 2017 budget: 

The original budgeted figures were approved by the Board of Directors at their meeting in August 
2016 and included certain expenses and offsetting recoveries on a net basis. For purposes of 
presentation in these financial statements, these items have been shown as gross amounts. 
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THE CENTRE IN THE SQUARE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements, continued 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

12. Schedule of reserve funds:

Performance 
Development Capital Sustainability Restricted 

Total 
Funds 

Revenue: 
Donations and sundry 
Grants from The City 

of Kitchener 2016 
Grants from the 

other governments 
Ticket surcharge 
Investment income 
Gain on investments 
Gain on sale of assets 
Total Revenue 

$ -

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

$ -

2,655,965 

1,006,552 
330,202 
17,067 

-
3,000 

4,012,786 

$ -

-

-
-

1,635 
-
-

1,635 

$ 2,327 

-

-
-

14,706 
44,712 

-
61,745 

$ 2,327 

2,655,965 

1,006,552 
330,202 

33,408 
44,712 
3,000 

4,076,166 

Expenses: 
Professional fees - - - 4,855 4,855 

Excess of revenue 
over expenses    - 4,012,786 1,635 56,890 4,071,311 

Transfer to accumulated  
surplus - tangible 
capital assets - (4,270,122) - - (4,270,122) 

Other transfers - - 139,217 - 139,217

Balance, beginning of year - 765,447 62,686 501,977 1,330,110

Balance, end of year $ - $ 508,111 $ 203,538 $ 558,867 $ 1,270,516 
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KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519-747-8800 
Fax 519-747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Mayor and Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Corporation of the City of Kitchener 

We have audited the accompanying statement of operations and accumulated 
surplus of The Corporation of the City of Kitchener Gasworks Enterprise for the 
year ended December 31, 2017 (“the financial statement”). 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statement 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this 
financial statement in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards relevant to preparing such a financial statement, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statement based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical  
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statement is free from material misstatement. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statement. The procedures selected 

depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statement, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statement in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statement. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects the 
results of operations and accumulated surplus of The Corporation of the City of 
Kitchener Gasworks Enterprise for the year ended December 31, 2017 in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards relevant to 
preparing such a financial statement. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 
June 11, 2018 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
GASWORKS ENTERPRISE 

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

2017 2017 2016 
Budget

DELIVERY OPERATIONS

Gas delivery

Revenue $ 40,057,792 $ 40,744,283 $ 42,881,159 
Expenses 17,897,299 18,872,786 19,514,058 

22,160,493 21,871,497 23,367,101 

Other programs

(Customer service, Rental water heaters & Financing) 
Revenue 9,657,862 10,088,625 9,993,685 
Expenses 6,676,807 6,970,815 6,505,337 

2,981,055 3,117,810 3,488,348 

Dispatch

Revenue 624,800 574,152 509,821 
Expenses 624,800 574,152 509,821 

- - -

Excess of revenue over expenses 25,141,548 24,989,307 26,855,449 

Accumulated surplus - Delivery

Balance, beginning of year 142,040,831 142,040,831 128,979,948 
Interest revenue (414) (408) 1,138 
Transfer to gas investment reserve (14,071,618) (14,071,618) (13,795,704) 
Add excess of revenue over expenses 25,141,548 24,989,307 26,855,449 

Balance, end of year 153,110,347 152,958,112 142,040,831 

SUPPLY OPERATIONS

Revenue 24,472,494 21,804,187 19,830,224 
Expenses 29,885,545 25,268,537 20,571,543 

Excess of revenue over expenses (5,413,051) (3,464,350) (741,319) 

Accumulated surplus - Supply

Balance, beginning of year 8,338,456 8,338,456 8,947,187 
Interest revenue 121,000 122,905 132,588 
Add excess of revenue over expenses (5,413,051) (3,464,350) (741,319) 
Other - 1,743,552 -

Balance, end of year 3,046,405 6,740,563 8,338,456 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
GASWORKS ENTERPRISE 

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

TRANSPORTATION OPERATIONS

2017 
Budget

2017 2016 

Revenue 
Expenses 

Excess of revenue over expenses

8,230,125 
7,082,201 

1,147,924 

7,290,586 
7,331,221 

(40,635) 

7,255,795 
8,033,563 

(777,768) 

Accumulated surplus - Transportation

Balance, beginning of year 
Interest revenue 
Add excess of revenue over expenses 
Other 

Balance, end of year 

(828,250) 
(12,010) 

1,147,924 
-

307,664 

(828,250) 
(12,208) 
(40,635) 
881,093 

-

(49,745) 
(737) 

(777,768) 
-

(828,250) 

CARBON OPERATIONS

Revenue 
Expenses 

Excess of revenue over expenses

9,721,524 
9,721,549 

(25)

9,116,117 
9,007,007 

109,110 

-

6,014 

(6,014) 

Accumulated Surplus - Carbon

Balance, beginning of year 
Carbon interest 
Add excess of revenue over expenses 

Balance, end of year $

(6,014) 
-

(25)

(6,039) $

(6,014) 
(89)

109,110 

103,007 $ 

-

-

(6,014) 

(6,014) 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The accompanying financial statements of Kitchener Generation Corporation are the responsibility of 
management and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards. The significant accounting policies followed by Kitchener Generation Corporation are 
described in the Significant Accounting Policies contained in Note 2 of the financial statements. The 
preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management’s 
judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized 
with certainty until future periods. The financial statements have been prepared within reasonable limits 
of materiality and in light of information available up to June 11, 2018. 

Management maintained a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
the assets were safeguarded and that reliable information was available on a timely basis. The system 
included formal policies and procedures and an organizational structure that provided for the 
appropriate delegation of authority and segregation of responsibilities. 

KITCHENER GENERATION CORPORATION 

On behalf of management, 

Jonathan Lautenbach, CPA, CGA 
Chief Financial Officer and City Treasurer 

June 11, 2018 
Kitchener, Canada 
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KITCHENER GENERATION CORPORATION
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2017 
(Unaudited)

2017 2016 

Financial assets

Accounts receivable $ 13,354 $ 4,883 

13,354 4,883 

Liabilities

Due to The Corporation of the City of Kitchener 13,387 4,916 
Long-term debt (Note 3) 2,819,442 3,031,535 

2,832,829 3,036,451 

Net financial debt (2,819,475) (3,031,568) 

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 4) 3,019,272 3,251,524 

Total non-current assets 3,019,272 3,251,524 

Accumulated surplus (Note 5) $ 199,797 $ 219,956 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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KITCHENER GENERATION CORPORATION
Statement of Operations 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 
(Unaudited)

2017 2017 2016 
Budget

Revenue

Sale of electricity $ 385,000 $ 390,542 $ 433,797 

Total revenue 385,000 390,542 433,797 

Expenses 
Maintenance 20,400 3,003 13,608 
Amortization 232,252 232,252 232,252 

Total expenses 252,652 235,255 245,860 

Surplus before interest and provision for
payments-in-lieu of corporate income taxes 132,348 155,287 187,937 

Interest expense 152,971 151,880 163,457 

Surplus before provision for payments-in-lieu of
corporate income taxes (20,623) 3,407 24,480 

Provision for payments-in-lieu of corporate income 
taxes - - -

Annual surplus $ (20,623) $ 3,407 $ 24,480 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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KITCHENER GENERATION CORPORATION
Statement of Change in Net Financial Debt 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 
(Unaudited)

2017 2016 

Annual surplus $ 3,407 $ 24,480 
Change in share capital (23,566) (25,675) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 232,252 232,252 

Change in net financial debt 212,093 231,057 
Net financial debt, beginning of year (3,031,568) (3,262,625) 

Net financial debt, end of year $ (2,819,475) $ (3,031,568) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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KITCHENER GENERATION CORPORATION
Statement of Cash Flow 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 
(Unaudited)

2017 2016 

Operating

Annual surplus $ 3,407 $ 24,480 

Items not involving cash

Amortization 232,252 232,252 

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities

Trade and other accounts receivable (8,471) 1,152 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,471 (1,135) 

Net change in cash from operating activities 235,659 256,749 

Financing

Change in contributed capital (23,566) (25,675) 
Change in long-term debt (212,093) (231,074) 

Net change in cash from financing activities (235,659) (256,749) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents - -

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year - -

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ - $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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KITCHENER GENERATION CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 
(Unaudited)

1. Incorporation

On December 9, 2011 KITCHENER GENERATION CORPORATION (the company) was incorporated under
the Business Corporation Act (Ontario).  Effective January 1, 2012, The Corporation of the City of Kitchener
transferred the solar roof asset constructed on the surface of the Kitchener Operations Facility to the Company
in exchange for 100% of the Company's common shares and interest bearing debt.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

a. Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles for local governments as established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of 
the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. 

b. Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly attributable to 
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The cost less residual value of the tangible 
capital asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of nineteen years. 

c. Revenue recognition

The Company records revenue from the sale of electricity on the basis of regular meter readings and estimates 
of energy generation since the last meter reading to the end of the year. 

d. Use of estimates

Since precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the preparation of 
periodic financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates and approximations. These have been 
made using careful judgments. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

3. Long-term debt

Effective January 1, 2012 the Company incurred an unsecured promissory note payable to The Corporation of
the City of Kitchener.  For shareholder debt, payments are made annually including interest and principal.
Interest is calculated at the fixed rate of 5.01% per annum. Interest paid in 2017 amounted to $151,880 (2016 
- $163,457).

4. Tangible capital assets

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Opening balance 
Additions 
Amortization expense 
Disposals 

$ 4,412,784 $ 
-

-

-

(1,161,260) $
-

(232,252) 
-

3,251,524 
-

(232,252) 
-

Ending balance $ 4,412,784 $ (1,393,512) $ 3,019,272 
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KITCHENER GENERATION CORPORATION
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 
(Unaudited)

5. Accumulated surplus

The accumulated surplus consists of the following:

Share capital - common shares (Note 6) 
Retained earnings 

$

$

2017

313,271 $ 
(113,474) 

199,797 $ 

2016 

336,837 
(116,881) 

219,956 

6. Share capital 

Authorized
Unlimited common shares
Issued
1,000 common shares
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KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519 747-8800 
Fax 519 747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Kitchener Power Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kitchener Power 
Corporation, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2017, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member 
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of Kitchener Power Corporation as at December 31, 
2017, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 
March 23, 2018 

100



2017 KITCHENER FINANCIAL REPORT

  
  

     
 

  
  
  
  

  
  

              
  
  
  

              

              

  
  

  

KITCHENER POWER CORP. 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As at December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Assets 
Note 2017 2016 

Current assets
    Cash 
    Accounts receivable 
    Unbilled revenue 
    Inventory 
    Prepaid expenses 
    Total current assets 

    Non-current assets:
    Property, plant and equipment 
    Intangible assets 
    Deferred tax assets 
    Investment in subsidiaries and associates 
    Total non-current assets 

Total assets 

Regulatory deferral account debit balances 
Deferred taxes associated with regulatory accounts 
Total assets and regulatory assets 

4 
5 

6 

7 
8 
9 

10 

$ 

$ 

29,045 
18,203 
21,854 
2,209 

809 
72,120 

234,215 
890 
140 
42 

235,287 

307,407 

10,073 
-

317,480 

$

$ 

20,448 
23,764
27,589
2,864

949
75,614

222,159
1,174
2,015

69
225,417 

301,031 

4,487 
141 

305,659 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Note 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

2017 2016 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payable 
Current portion of long-term debt 
Current portion customer deposits 
Current portion of deferred revenue 
Total current liabilities 

Non-current liabilities: 
Long-term debt 
Employee future benefits 
Long-term customer deposits 
Deferred revenue 
Deferred tax liablilty 
Total non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Shareholders' equity: 
Share capital - common shares 
Retained earnings 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

Total shareholders' equity 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 

Regulatory deferral account credit balances 
Deferred taxes associated with regulatory accounts 

11 
13 

11 
12 
13 

9 

14 

10 

$ 26,057 
336 

1,127 
8,638 

732 
36,890 

78,745 
5,213 
5,886 

29,118 
1,535 

120,497 

157,387 

66,389 
81,857 

(278} 
147,968 

305,355 

11,021 
1,104 

$ 28,608 
195 

1,080 
8,592 

584 
39,059 

79,872 
5,035 
5,571 

23,772 

114,250 

153,309 

66,389 
75,886 

(245} 
142,030 

295,339 

10,320 

Total egui!X
1 

liabilities and shareholders' egui!X 317 480 $ 305 659
1 1i 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these f inancial statements. 

Director 

half of the Board: 

102



2017 KITCHENER FINANCIAL REPORT

  
  

     
 

    

  
                     

  

              
  

                         

              
  
  
  

                         

              
  

  

 
  
  

                         

  

             

              

                         

  

  

KITCHENER POWER CORP. 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Note 2017 2016 
Energy sales $ 204,010 $ 232,647 
Cost of energy sold 204,075 228,633 

(65) 4,014
Other operating revenue 

Distribution sales 40,508 40,600
Other income 15 2,785 2,006 

Net operating revenue 43,228 46,620 

Expenses: 
Operations and maintenance 10,674 9,174 
Customer services 4,230 4,415 
Administration 4,204 4,133 
Amortization 8,552 8,721 

Other 
Energy conservation - IESO program revenue 
Energy conservation - IESO program expense 
Net energy conservation - IESO programs 

27,660 

(3,523) 
3,523 

-

26,443 

(2,443) 
2,443 

-

Finance income 
Finance charges 
Net finance costs 

16 
16 

(301) 
4,109 
3,808 

(234) 
4,145 
3,911 

Income before income taxes 11,760 16,266 

Income tax expense 9 1,823 1,999 

Income for the year before movements 
in regulatory deferral account balances 9,937 14,267 

Net movement in regulatory deferral account balances 
related to profit or loss and the related deferred 
tax movement 10 229 (3,868) 

Income for the year and net movements in 
regulatory deferral account balances 10,166 10,399 

Other comprehensive loss 12 (33) -

Total comprehensive income for the year $ 10,133 $ 10,399 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Accumulated 

Balance at January 1, 2016 
Net income 
Other comprehensive income 
Dividends 
Balance at December 31, 2016 

Share capital 

$ 66,389 

66,389 

other 
comprehensive 
income (loss) 

$ (245) 

-

(245) 

Retained 
earnings 

$ 69,897 
10,399 

-
(4,410) 
75,886 

$ 

Total 

136,041 
10,399 

-
(4,410) 

142,030 

Net income 
Other comprehensive income 
Dividends 
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 66,389 

(33) 

$ (278) 

10,166 

(4,195) 
$ 81,857 $ 

10,166 
(33) 

(4,195) 
147,968 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

2017 2016 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Total comprehensive income for the year $ 10,133 $ 10,399 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used in) operations: 

Amortization 9,252 9,411 
Amortization of deferred revenue (658) (480)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (29) (54)
Income tax expense 1,823 1,999
Income taxes paid (1,711) (2,209)
Increase decrease in employee future benefits 178 135 

18,988 19,201 
Change in non-cash operating working capital: 

Accounts receivable 5,561 (26) 
Unbilled revenue 5,735 (1,799) 
Inventory 655 681 
Prepaid expenses 139 66 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,551) 32 
Other current liabilities 194 250 
Change in regulatory assets (5,445) 574 
Change in regulatory liabilities 1,834 3,450 
Change in deferred tax 3,410 346 

Net cash from operating activities 28,520 22,775 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment 29 72 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (20,888) (25,776) 
Purchase of intangible assets (136) (710)
Net cash used in investing activities (20,995) (26,414) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Net change in customer deposits 315 253 
Investments in subsidiaries and associates 28 (69) 
Dividends paid out (4,195) (4,410) 
Change in contributed capital received 6,004 8,715 
Repayment of long-term debt (1,080) (1,036) 
Net cash from financing activities 1,072 3,453 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 8,597 (186) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 20,448 20,634 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 29,045 $ 20,448 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

1. Reporting entity: 

Kitchener Power Corp. (the “Corporation”) is a holding company for the affiliate companies, 
Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. and Kitchener Energy Services Inc., and is itself wholly owned by the 
Corporation of the City of Kitchener and the Corporation of the Township of Wilmot. 

The Corporation oversees the operations of Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc., a regulated distribution 
company, and Kitchener Energy Services Inc., an unregulated retail services company. The 
Corporation also owns 33% of Grand River Energy Solutions Corp. (GRE), a generation and 
renewable energy solutions company. 

It is located in the City of Kitchener. The address of the Corporation’s registered office is 301 
Victoria Street South, Kitchener, Ontario, Canada. 

The financial statements are for the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The Corporation's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").   The financial statements were approved by the Board 
of Directors on March 23, 2018. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the 
following: 

(i) Where held, financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, including those held 
for trading, are measured at fair value. 

(ii) Contributed assets are initially measured at fair value. 

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 22. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation's 
functional currency.  All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded 
to the nearest thousand. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities.  Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in these financial statements is included in the 
following notes: 

i) Note 7 – Property, plant and equipment 
ii) Note 9 – Deferred tax assets 
iii) Note 12 – Employee future benefits 
iv) Note 17 – Commitments and contingencies 

(e) Rate regulation: 

The Corporation is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB”), under the authority granted 
by the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998. Among other things, the OEB has the power and 
responsibility to approve or set rates for the transmission and distribution of electricity, providing 
continued rate protection for electricity consumers in Ontario, and ensuring that transmission 
and distribution companies fulfill obligations to connect and service customers. The OEB may 
also prescribe license requirements and conditions of service to local distribution companies 
(“LDCs”), such as the Corporation, which may include, among other things, record keeping, 
regulatory accounting principles, separation of accounts for distinct businesses, and filing and 
process requirements for rate setting purposes. 

The Corporation is required to bill customers for the debt retirement charge set by the province. 
The Corporation may file to recover uncollected debt retirement charges from Ontario 
Electricity Financial Corporation (“OEFC”) once each year. 

Rate setting: 

Distribution revenue and electricity rates 

The OEB sets electricity prices for low-volume consumers twice each year based on an 
estimate of how much it will cost to supply the province with electricity for the next year. All low 
volume customers without a contract with an energy retailer are charged the OEB mandated 
rate for electricity.  If a customer (regardless of volume) has a retailer agreement, then retailer 
rates are charged instead. All remaining consumers pay the market price for electricity. The 
Corporation is billed for the cost of the electricity that its customers use and passes this cost 
on to the customer at cost without a mark-up. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

2. Basis of presentation (continued): 
(e) Rate regulation (continued): 

For the distribution revenue included in electricity sales, the Corporation files a “Cost of Service” 
(“COS”) rate application with the OEB every four years where rates are determined through a 
review of the forecasted annual amount of operating and capital expenses, debt and 
shareholder’s equity required to support the Corporation’s business.  The Corporation 
estimates electricity usage and the costs to service each customer class to determine the 
appropriate rates to be charged to each customer class.  The COS application is reviewed by 
the OEB and intervenors and rates are approved based upon this review, including any 
revisions resulting from that review. 

In the intervening years an Incentive Rate Mechanism application (“IRM”) is filed.  An IRM 
application results in a formulaic adjustment to distribution rates that were set under the last 
COS application. The previous year’s rates are adjusted for the annual change in the Gross 
Domestic Product Implicit Price Inflator for Final Domestic Demand (“GDP IPI-FDD”) net of a 
productivity factor and a “stretch factor” determined by the relative efficiency of an electricity 
distributor. 

As a licensed distributor, the Corporation is responsible for billing customers for electricity 
generated by third parties and the related costs of providing electricity service, such as 
transmission services and other services provided by third parties.  The Corporation is required, 
pursuant to regulation, to remit such amounts to these third parties, irrespective of whether the 
Corporation ultimately collects these amounts from customers. 

The Corporation last filed a COS application on June 21, 2013 for rates effective January 1, 
2014 to December 31, 2014.  The GDP IPI-FDD for 2017 is 1.9%, the Corporation’s productivity 
factor is 0% and the stretch factor is 0.15%, resulting in a net adjustment of 1.75% to the 
previous year’s rates. 

(f) Investments 

Investments in subsidiary companies, associates and other long-term investments are 
accounted for by the equity method. Dividends received are recorded as a reduction of the 
carrying value of these investments. 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in all years presented in these 
financial statements unless otherwise indicated. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
(a) Financial instruments: 

All financial assets are classified as loans and receivables and all financial liabilities are 
classified as other liabilities. These financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method less any impairment for the financial assets as 
described in note 3(f).  The Corporation does not enter into derivative instruments. 

Hedge accounting has not been used in the preparation of these financial statements. 

Cash equivalents include short-term investments with maturities of three months or less when 
purchased. 

(b) Revenue recognition: 

Electricity sales: 

Electricity sales are recognized as the electricity is delivered to customers and includes the 
amounts billed to customers for electricity, including the cost of electricity supplied, distribution, 
and any other regulatory charges. Electricity revenue is recorded on the basis of regular meter 
readings and estimated customer usage since the last meter reading date to the end of the 
year.  The related cost of power is recorded on the basis of power used. 

For customer billings related to electricity generated by third parties and the related costs of 
providing electricity service, such as transmission services and other services provided by third 
parties, the Corporation has determined that it is acting as a principal for these electricity 
charges and, therefore, has presented electricity revenue on a gross basis. 

Customer billings for debt retirement charges are recorded on a net basis as the Corporation 
is acting as an agent for this revenue stream. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Revenue recognition (continued): 

Revenue from contracts with customers: 

Certain customers and developers are required to contribute towards the capital cost of 
construction of distribution assets in order to provide ongoing service. Cash contributions are 
initially recorded as deferred revenue. When an asset other than cash is received as a capital 
contribution, the asset is initially recognized at its fair value, with a corresponding amount 
recognized as deferred revenue. The deferred revenue, which represents the Corporation's 
obligation to continue to provide the customers access to the supply of electricity, is amortized 
to income on a straight-line basis over the economic useful life of the constructed or contributed 
asset, which represents the period of ongoing service to the customer. 

Rendering of services: 

Revenue earned from the provision of services is recognized as the service is rendered. 

Government grants 

Incentive payments to which the Corporation is entitled from the Independent Electricity System 
Operator (“IESO”) are recognized as revenue in the period when they are determined by the 
IESO and the amount is communicated to the Corporation. 

(c) Inventory: 

Inventory, comprising material and supplies, the majority of which is consumed by the 
Corporation in the provision of its services, is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value, with cost being determined on a weighted average cost basis, and includes expenditures 
incurred in acquiring the material and supplies and other costs incurred in bringing them to their 
existing location and condition. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated selling expenses. 

(d) Property, plant and equipment: 

Items of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) used in rate-regulated activities and 
acquired prior to January 1, 2015 are measured at deemed cost established on the transition 
date, less accumulated depreciation. All other items of PP&E are measured at cost, or, where 
the item is transferred from customers, its fair value, less accumulated depreciation. 
Consistent with IFRS 1, the Corporation elected to use the carrying amount as previously 
determined under Canadian GAAP as the deemed cost at January 1, 2015, the transition 
date to IFRS. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued):

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The
cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, and any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an item of PP&E are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal, if any, with the carrying amount of the item of PP&E and are
recognized net within other income in profit or loss.

Major spare parts and standby equipment are recognized as items of PP&E.

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the
net book value of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within
the part will flow to the Corporation and its cost can be measured reliably. In this event, the
replaced part of property, plant and equipment is written off, and the related gain or loss is
included in profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment
are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount and is recognized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each part or component of an item of
property, plant and equipment. The depreciable amount is cost. Land is not depreciated.
Construction-in-progress assets are not amortized until the projects are complete and in
service.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20-50 years 
Transformer station equipment 15-50 years 
Distribution station equipment 15-50 years 
Distribution system 25-60 years 
Meters 15-25 years 
SCADA equipment 15 years 
Other capital assets 3-10 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted prospectively if appropriate. 

(e) Intangible assets

(i) Computer software:

Computer software that is acquired or developed by the Corporation, including software
that is not integral to the functionality of equipment purchased which has finite useful lives,
is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Intangible assets (continued): 

(ii) Land rights: 

Payments to obtain rights to access land ("land rights") are classified as intangible assets. 
These include payments made for easements, right of access and right of use over land 
for which the Corporation does not hold title.  Land rights are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

(iii) Amortization: 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available 
for use. The estimated useful lives are: 

Computer software 3-5 years 
Land rights 100 years 

Amortization methods and useful lives of all intangible assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted prospectively if appropriate. 

(f) Impairment: 

(i) Financial assets: 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is considered to be impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the 
estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated 
as the difference between its current carrying amount (using prevailing interest rates), and 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. Interest on the impaired assets continues to be recognized through the 
unwinding of the discount. 

All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.  An impairment loss is reversed if the 
reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognized.  For financial assets measured at amortized cost the reversal is recognized in 
profit or loss. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
(f) Impairment (continued): 

(ii) Non-financial assets: 

The carrying amounts of the Corporation's non-financial assets, other than inventories and 
deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount 
is estimated. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group 
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the "cash-generating unit"). The 
recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in profit 
or loss. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For assets other than goodwill, 
impairment recognized in prior periods is assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

(g) Provisions: 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
(h) Regulatory deferral accounts: 

Regulatory deferral account debit balances represent costs incurred in excess of amounts 
billed to the customer at OEB approved rates. These amounts have been accumulated and 
deferred in anticipation of their future recovery in electricity distribution rates. Regulatory 
deferral account credit balances represent amounts billed to the customer at OEB approved 
rates in excess of costs incurred by the Corporation. 

Regulatory deferral account debit balances are recognized if it is probable that future billings 
in an amount at least equal to the capitalized cost will result from inclusion of that cost in 
allowable costs for rate-making purposes. The offsetting amount is recognized in profit and 
loss.  The debit balance is reduced by the amount of customer billings as electricity is delivered 
to the customer and the customer is billed at rates approved by the OEB for the recovery of the 
capitalized costs. 

Regulatory deferral account credit balances are recognized if it is probable that future billings 
in an amount at least equal to the credit balance will be reduced as a result of rate-making 
activities. The offsetting amount is recognized in profit and loss. The credit balance is reduced 
by the amounts returned to customers as electricity is delivered to the customer at rates 
approved by the OEB for the return of the regulatory account credit balance. 

The probability of recovery or repayment of the regulatory account balances are assessed 
annually based upon the likelihood that the OEB will approve the change in rates to recover or 
repay the balance. Any resulting impairment loss is recognized in profit and loss in the year 
incurred. 

Regulatory deferral accounts attract interest at OEB prescribed rates. The rates from January 
to September 2017 were 1.1% and from October to December 2017 1.5% (2016 – 1.1%). 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
(i) Employee future benefits: 

(i) Pension plan: 

The Corporation provides a pension plan for all its full-time employees through Ontario 
Municipal Employees Retirement System (“OMERS”). OMERS is a multi-employer 
pension plan which operates as the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund (“the 
Fund”), and provides pensions for employees of Ontario municipalities, local boards and 
public utilities. The Fund is a contributory defined benefit pension plan, which is financed 
by equal contributions from participating employers and employees, and by the investment 
earnings of the Fund. To the extent that the Fund finds itself in an under-funded position, 
additional contribution rates may be assessed to participating employers and members. 

OMERS is a defined benefit plan. However, as OMERS does not segregate its pension 
asset and liability information by individual employers, there is insufficient information 
available to enable the Corporation to directly account for the plan. Consequently, the plan 
has been accounted for as a defined contribution plan. Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in net 
income when they are due. 

(ii) Post-employment benefits, other than pension: 

The Corporation provides some of its retired employees with life insurance and medical 
benefits beyond those provided by government sponsored plans. 

The cost of these benefits is expensed as earned by employees through employment 
service.  The accrued benefit obligations and the current service costs are actuarially 
determined by applying the projected unit credit method and reflect management’s best 
estimate of certain underlying assumptions. Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
defined benefit plans are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income and 
reported in retained earnings. When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the 
increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognized in net income on a 
straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. In 
circumstances where the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognized 
immediately in net income. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
(j) Deferred revenue and assets transferred from customers: 

Certain customers and developers are required to contribute towards the capital cost of 
construction in order to provide ongoing service. When an asset is received as a capital 
contribution, the asset is initially recognized at its fair value, with the corresponding amount 
recognized as deferred revenue.  Deferred revenue represents the Corporation's obligation to 
continue to provide customers access to the supply of electricity, and is amortized to income 
on a straight-line basis over the economic useful life of the acquired or contributed asset, which 
represents the period of ongoing service to the customer. 

(k) Leased assets: 

Leases, where the terms cause the Corporation to assume substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased 
asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

All other leases are classified as operating leases and the leased assets are not recognized on 
the Corporation’s balance sheet. Payments made under operating leases are recognized in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

(l) Finance income and finance costs: 

Finance income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 
Finance income comprises interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and on regulatory 
assets. 

Finance charges comprise interest expense on borrowings, finance lease obligations, 
regulatory liabilities and unwinding of the discount on provisions and impairment losses on 
financial assets. Finance costs are recognized as an expense unless they are capitalized as 
part of the cost of qualifying assets. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(m) Income taxes: 

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in 
equity, in which case, it is recognized in equity. 

The Corporation is currently exempt from taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the 
Ontario Corporations Tax Act (collectively the “Tax Acts”).  Under the Electricity Act, 1998, the 
Corporation makes payments in lieu of corporate taxes to the Ontario Electricity Financial 
Corporation (“OEFC”). These payments are calculated in accordance with the rules for 
computing taxable income and taxable capital and other relevant amounts contained in the 
Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Corporations Tax Act (Ontario) as modified by the Electricity 
Act, 1998, and related regulations. Prior to October 1, 2001, the Corporation was not subject 
to income or capital taxes. Payments in lieu of taxes are referred to as income taxes. 

Current tax is the tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method. Under this method, deferred 
income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for accounting purposes, as well as for tax losses 
available to be carried forward to future years that are likely to be realized. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates, at the reporting 
date, expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the year that includes the date of enactment or 
substantive enactment. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

4. Cash: 

2017 2016 

Cash $ 29,045 $ 20,448 

5. Accounts receivable: 

2017 2016 

Customer and other trade receivables 17,985 23,695 
Trade receivables from related parties 218 69 

18,203 23,764 

6. Inventory: 

The amount of inventories consumed by the Corporation and recognized as an expense during 
2017 was $406 (2016 - $275). 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

7. Property, plant and equipment:

(a) Cost or deemed cost:

 Land and 
buildings

 Distribution 
equipment

 Other fixed 
assets

 Construction-
in-progress  Total 

Balance at January 1, 2017 
Additions 
Transfers 
Disposals/Retirements 
Balance at December 31, 2017 

$ 22,606 
1,016 

-
(24) 

$ 23,598 

$ 203,502 
20,900 

-
29 

$ 224,431 

$ 6,727 
1,530 

-
(1,166) 

$ 7,091 

$ 6,900 $ 
-

(2,558) 
-

$ 4,342 $ 

239,735 
23,446 
(2,558) 
(1,161) 

259,462 

 Land and 
buildings

 Distribution 
equipment

 Other fixed 
assets

 Construction-
in-progress  Total 

Balance at January 1, 2016 
Additions 
Transfers 
Disposals/Retirements 
Balance at December 31, 2016 

$ 

$ 

23,880 
222 
-

(1,496) 
22,606 

$ 181,825 
22,176 

-
(499) 

$ 203,502 

$ 6,280 
1,150 

-
(703) 

$ 6,727 

$ 4,672 
2,228 

-
-

$ 6,900 

$ 

$ 

216,657 
25,776 

-
(2,698) 

239,735 

(b) Accumulated depreciation:

 Land and 
buildings

 Distribution 
equipment

 Other fixed 
assets

 Construction-
in-progress  Total 

Balance at January 1, 2017 
Depreciation charge 
Disposals/Retirements 
Balance at December 31, 2017 

$ 829 
656 
(24) 

$ 1,461 

$ 15,701 
6,969 

29 
$ 22,699 

$ 1,046 
1,207 

(1,166) 
$ 1,087 

$ - $
-
-

$ - $

17,576 
8,832 

(1,161) 
25,247 

 Land and 
buildings

 Distribution 
equipment

 Other fixed 
assets

 Construction-
in-progress  Total 

Balance at January 1, 2016 
Depreciation charge 
Disposals/Retirements 
Balance at December 31, 2016 

$ 1,501 
824 

(1,496) 
$ 829 

$ 9,223 
6,978 
(500) 

$ 15,701 

$ 522 
1,209 
(685) 

$ 1,046 

$ - $
-
-

$ - $

11,246 
9,011 

(2,681) 
17,576 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

7. Property, plant and equipment (continued) :

(c) Carrying amounts:

At December 31, 2017 
At December 31, 2016 

 Land and 
buildings

$ 22,137 
$ 21,777 

 Distribution 
equipment

$ 201,732 
$ 187,801 

 Other fixed 
assets

$ 6,004 
$ 5,681 

 Construction-
in-progress

$ 4,342 $ 
$ 6,900 $ 

 Total 
234,215 
222,159 

(d) Leased plant and equipment:

The Corporation does not have leases for plant or equipment.

(e) Security:

At December 31, 2017, the Corporation had zero properties subject to a general security
agreement.

(f) Borrowing costs:

During the year, borrowing costs of $ nil (2016 - $ nil) were capitalized as part of the cost of
property, plant and equipment.
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

7. Property, plant and equipment (continued): 

(g) Allocation of depreciation and amortization: 

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment and the amortization of intangible assets 
has been allocated to profit or loss as follows: 

 Operations  Customer  Energy and  Administration services conservation  Other Total maintenance expense expense expense expense 
December 31, 2017: 
Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment $ 685 $ 8 $ - $ 7 $ 8,132 $ 8,832 
Amortization of intangible 
assets - - - - 420 420 

$ 685 $ 8 $ - $ 7 $ 8,552 $ 9,252 

 Operations  Customer  Energy and  Administration services conservation  Other Total maintenance expense expense expense expense 
December 31, 2016: 
Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment $ 677 $ 6 $ - $ 7 $ 8,311 $ 9,001 
Amortization of intangible 
assets - - - - 410 410 

$ 677 $ 6 $ - $ 7 $ 8,721 $ 9,411 

8. Intangible assets: 
(a) Cost or deemed cost: 

 Computer  Land 
Software Rights  Total 

Balance at January 1, 2017 $ 2,390 $ 8 $ 2,398 
Additions 136 - 136 
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 2,526 $ 8 $ 2,534 

Balance at January 1, 2016 $ 1,680 $ 8 $ 1,688 
Additions 710 - 710 
Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 2,390 $ 8 $ 2,398 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

8. Intangible assets(continued):
(b) Accumulated amortization:

Balance at January 1, 2017 
Additions 
Balance at December 31, 2017 

 Computer 
Software

$ 1,216 
420 

$ 1,636 

 Land 
Rights
$ 8 

-
$ 8 

$ 

$ 

 Total 
1,224 

420 
1,644 

Balance at January 1, 2016 
Additions 
Balance at December 31, 2016 

$ 

$ 

819 
398 

1,217 

$ 5 
2 

$ 7 

$ 

$ 

824 
400 

1,224 

(c) Carrying amounts:

At December 31, 2017 
At December 31, 2016 

 Computer 
Software

$ 890 
$ 1,173 

 Land 
Rights
$ -
$ 1 

 Total 
$ 890 
$ 1,174 

9. Income tax expense:

Current tax expense:

Current period 
Adjustment for prior periods 

$ 

$ 

2017 
1,906 

(55) 
1,851 

2016 
$ 2,029 

9 
$ 2,038 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

9. Income tax expense (continued):

Deferred tax expense:

Original & reversal of temporary differences 
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses 

$ 

$ 

2017 
(12) 
(17) 
(29) 

$ 

$ 

2016 
(36) 
(3) 

(39) 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate: 

2017 2016 
Total comprehensive income for the year $ 10,133 $ 10,399 
Total income tax expense 1,823 1,999 
Comprehensive income before income taxes 11,956 12,398 
Income tax using the Corporation's statutory tax rate of 26.5% 3,169 3,286 
Temporary differences not benefitted (1,291) (1,296) 
Under (over) provided in prior periods (55) 9

$ 1,823 $ 1,999 

Significant components of the Corporation's deferred tax balances are as follows: 

2017 2016 
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):

 Plant and equipment 
   Non-vested sick leave 
   Employee benefits 
   Intangible assets 
   Loss carry-forward 
   Deferred tax liability 
   Deferred revenue - contributed capital 

$ (11,145) 
144 

1,381 
7 

133 
1,535 
8,085 

$ (6,063) 
167

1,334
7

116
-

6,454 

$ 140 $ 2,015 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

10. Regulatory deferral account balance:

The following is a reconciliation of the carrying amount for each class of regulatory deferral account 
balances: 

Balances 
arising in Recovery/ 

2016 the period Reversal Other 
Regulatory deferral account debit balances 

Group 1 deferred accounts $ 3,362 $ 184 $ - $ 1,030 
Regulatory asset recovery account 825 10 (41) -
Smart meter recovery 13 - - -
Deferred tax asset - 4,164 - -
Other 287 239 - -

Total amount related to regulatory 
deferral account debit balances  $ 4,487 $ 4,597 $ (41) $ 1,030

Balances 
arising in Recovery/ 

2016 the period Reversal Other 
Regulatory deferral account credit balances 

Group 1 deferred accounts $ 9,443 $ 184 $ - $ 1,030 
Deferred tax liability 532 (532) - -
Other 345 19 - -

Total amount related to regulatory 
deferral account credit balances  $ 10,320 $ (329) $ - $ 1,030

Movements in regulatory accounts 
Net change in regulatory deferral account 
debit and credit balances 
Less movement related to the balance sheet
   Deferred income tax 
   Deferred revenue 
   Amounts moved to property, plant, equipment 

Net movement in regulatory deferral account balances related to profit or loss and the 
related deferral tax movement 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2017 

4,576 
794 
13 

4,164 
526 

10,073 

2017 

10,657 
-
364 

11,021 

2017 

4,885 

(4,697) 
41 

-

229 

Remaining 
recovery/ 
reversal 
period 
(years) 

Note 1 
Note 1 

3 

3 

Remaining 
recovery/ 
reversal 
period 
(years) 

Note 1 
Note 2 

3 

2016 

$ (3,847) 

(523)
502
-

$ (3,868) 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

10. Regulatory deferral account balance (continued):

Note 1 The Corporation expects to be approved for the collection of these amounts in its 2017 
filing for 2018 rates. 

Note 2 The Corporation has not sought approval for the disposition of this amount as these 
amounts as changes in underlying assumptions may reduce the amounts recorded in 
the account.  The Corporation may see refunds in the future. 

11. Long-term debt:

Effective August 1, 2000, the Corporation incurred unsecured promissory notes payable to the City
of Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot, and have an interest rate of 4.88% per annum. Interest
is payable in quarterly installments, in arrears, on March 31st, June 30th, September 30th and
December 31st.

Effective February 1, 2010, the Corporation incurred a ten year senior unsecured debenture
payable to Ontario Infrastructure Projects Corporation.  An initial payment of $7,000 was received
February 1, 2010, followed by a second payment of $3 million on May 17, 2010. The debenture
has an interest rate of 4.28%, and interest is payable in equal semi-annual installments, in arrears,
on May 17th and November 17th each year commencing November 17, 2010 until maturity.

2017 2016 
Senior unsecured debentures: 
City of Kitchener 
Township of Wilmot 
Ontario Infrastructure Projects Corporation 
Senior unsecured debentures, net proceeds 

$ 70,998 $ 70,998 
5,965 5,965 
2,909 3,989 

$ 79,872 $ 80,952 

    Less:  current portion of long-term debt 
Total long-term debt 

$ (1,127) $ (1,080) 
$ 78,745 $ 79,872 

12. Employee future benefits:

The Corporation pays certain medical and life insurance benefits on behalf of some of its retired
employees.  The Corporation recognizes these post-retirement costs in the period in which
employees’ services were rendered.  The accrued benefit liability at December 31, 2017 of $5,213
was based on an actuarial valuation completed in 2016 using a discount rate of 3.9%.
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

12. Employee future benefits (continued):

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit unfunded obligation and the accrued benefit
liability:

Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 
2017 

5,035 $ 
2016 

4,900 

Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Benefits paid during the year 
Actuarial loss recognized in other 
   comprehensive income 
Accrued benefit liability, end of year $ 

166 
194 

(227) 
45 

5,213 $ 

156 
188 

(209) 
-

5,035 

Components of net benefit expense recognized are as follows: 

2017 2016 
Current service cost $ 166 $ 156 
Interest cost 194 188 
Net benefit expense recognized $ 360 $ 344 

Actuarial losses recognized in other comprehensive income: 

2017 2016 
Cumulative amount at January 1 $ (245) $ (245) 
Recognized during the year (33) -
Cumulative amount at December 31 (278) (245)
Net benefit expense recognized $ (33) $ -
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

12. Employee future benefits (continued):

The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation are as follows (weighted average):

2017 2016 

Accrued benefit obligation:
 Discount rate 3.9% 3.9% 

Benefit cost for the year: Age
 Withdrawal rate 18-29 3.50% 2.75% 

30-34 2.50% 2.25% 
35-39 2.2% 2.0% 
40-49 1.8% 1.5% 
50-54 1.4% 1.5% 

Assumed health care cost trend rates:
   Initial health care cost trend rate Health 6.2% 6.4% 

Dental 4.5% 4.5% 

The approximate effect on the accrued benefit obligation of the entire plan and the estimated net 
benefit expense of the entire plan if the health care trend rate assumption was increased or 
decreased by 1%, and all other assumptions were held constant, is as follows: 

Benefit 
Obligation

 Periodic 
Benefit Cost 

1% increase in health care trend rate 
1% decrease in health care trend rate 

$ 186 
$ (149) 

$ 28 
$ (24) 

Historical Information 
Amounts for the current and previous year, for the entire plan, are as follows: 

2017 2016 

Defined benefit obligation 
Experience adjustments 

$ 5,213 
$ (33) 

$ 5,035 
$ -
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

12. Employee future benefits (continued):

The main actuarial assumptions utilized for the valuation are as follows:

General inflation - future general inflation levels, as measured by the changes in the Consumer
Price Index, were assumed at 2% in 2017, and thereafter (2016 - 2%).

Discount (interest) rate - the discount rate used to determine the present value of future liabilities
and the expense for the year ended December 31, 2017, was 3.9% (2016 – 3.9%).

Salary levels - future general salary and wage levels were assumed to increase at 3.3% (2016 -
3.3%) per annum.

Medical costs - medical costs were assumed to increase 6.4% for 2016, 6.2% for 2017, decreasing
annually to 4.5% in 2025 and beyond.

Dental costs - dental costs were assumed to be 4.5% for 2016, 4.5% for 2017 and thereafter.

13. Customer and IESO deposits:

Customer deposits represent cash deposits from electricity distribution customers and retailers, as
well as construction deposits.

Deposits from electricity distribution customers are refundable to customers who demonstrate an
acceptable level of credit risk as determined by the Corporation in accordance with policies set out
by the OEB or upon termination of their electricity distribution service.

Construction deposits represent cash prepayments for the estimated cost of capital projects
recoverable from customers and developers.  Upon completion of the capital project, these deposits
are transferred to deferred revenue.

The Corporation delivers conservation and demand management programs for its customers on
behalf of the IESO. Prepayments received from the IESO have been recorded and will be
transferred to revenue as programs are delivered and the revenue is earned.

The deposits comprise:

2017 2016 
Customer deposits $ 7,664 $ 7,546 
Construction deposits 5,702 5,459 
IESO deposit for energy conservation programs 1,158 1,158 
Total customer and IESO deposits $ 14,524 $ 14,163 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

14. Share capital:

2017 2016 
Authorized:
   Unlimited number of common shares 
Issued:
  20,000 common shares $ 66,389 $ 66,389 

Dividends:  

The holders of the common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to 
time. The Corporation paid aggregate dividends in the year on common shares of $4,195 (2016 -
$4,410). 

15. Other operating revenue:

Other income comprises:

2017 2016 
Specific service charges $ 1,654 $ 1,223 
Deferred revenue 658 480 
Scrap sales 363 170 
Net gain on disposal of capital assets 29 54 
Retailer services 35 39 
Sundry 46 40 
Total other income $ 2,785 $ 2,006 

16. Finance income and expense:

Interest income on bank deposits 
Finance income 

$ 
2017 

301 
301 

$ 
2016 

234 
234 

Interest expense on long-term debt 
Interest expense on BMO Letter of Credit 
Interest expense on deposits 
Other 

Net finance costs recognized in profit or loss $ 

3,911 
123 
70 
5 

4,109 
3,808 $ 

3,957 
123 
58 
7 

4,145 
3,911 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

17. Commitments and contingencies:

Contractual Obligations

There are no contractual obligations.

General

From time to time, the Corporation is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary
course of its business. The Corporation has no reason to believe that the disposition of any such
current matter could reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse impact on the
Corporation’s financial position, results of operations or its ability to carry on any of its business
activities.

General Liability Insurance:

The Corporation is a member of the Municipal Electric Association Reciprocal Insurance Exchange
(MEARIE). MEARIE is a pooling of public liability insurance risks of many of the LDCs in Ontario.
All members of the pool are subjected to assessment for losses experienced by the pool for the
years in which they were members, on a pro-rata basis based on the total of their respective service
revenues. As at December 31, 2017, no assessments have been made.

18. Guarantees:
Guarantees are not applicable to the Corporation.

19. Pension agreement:

The Corporation provides a pension plan for its employees through OMERS.  The plan is a multi-
employer, contributory defined pension plan with equal contributions by the employer and its
employees. In 2017, the Corporation made employer contributions of $1,600 to OMERS (2016 -
$1,500).  The Corporation’s net benefit expense has been allocated as follows:

a. $400 (2016 - $400) capitalized as part of property, plant and equipment;

b. $1,200 (2016 - $1,100) charged to net income.

The Corporation estimates that a contribution of $1,700 to OMERS will be made during the next 
fiscal year 

20. Employee benefits:

2017 2016 
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 18,426 $ 18,356 
CPP and EI remittances 700 724 
Contributions to OMERS 1,582 1,528 
Expenses related to defined benefit plans 360 345 

$ 21,068 $ 20,953 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

21. Related party transactions:

(a) Parent and ultimate controlling party:

The Corporation is wholly-owned by the Corporation of the City of Kitchener and the
Corporation of the Township of Wilmot. The City and the Township produce financial
statements that are available for public use.

(b) Entity with significant influence:

The Corporation of the City of Kitchener exercises significant influence over the Corporation
through its 92.25% ownership interest in the Corporation.

(c) Key management personnel:

The key management personnel of the Corporation have been defined as members of its board
of directors and executive management team members, and is summarized below.

2017 2016 
Directors' fees $ 112 $ 104 
Salaries and other short-term benefits 900 981 
Post employment benefits 17 18 
Other long-term benefits (OMERS) 74 79 

$ 1,103 $ 1,182 

(d) Transactions with parent:

During the year the Corporation paid management and business development services to its
parent in the amount of $ nil (2016 - $ nil)

(e) Transactions with entity with significant influence:

In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation delivers electricity to the Corporation of the
City of Kitchener. Electricity is billed to the City of Kitchener at prices and under terms approved
by the OEB.

(f) Transactions with ultimate parent (the City of Kitchener)

In 2017, the Corporation had the following significant transactions with its ultimate parent, a
government entity:

• Construction, contracted through Kitchener Wilmot Hydro Inc.
• Streetlight maintenance services contracted through Kitchener Energy Services Inc.
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

22. Financial instruments and risk management: 

Fair value disclosure 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. The carrying values of receivables, and 
accounts payable and accrued charges approximate fair value because of the short maturity of 
these instruments.  The carrying value of the customer deposits approximates fair value because 
the amounts are payable on demand. 

The fair value of the long term debt (senior unsecured debentures issued by the shareholders (City 
of Kitchener and Township of Wilmot) approximates the carrying value due to the short term nature 
of the loan. 

The fair value of the long term debt (senior unsecured debentures) issued by Ontario Infrastructure 
Projects Corporation at December 31, 2017 is $2,900 (2016 - $4,000). The fair value is calculated 
based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the current 
rate of interest at the reporting date. The interest rate used to calculate fair value at December 31, 
2017 was 4.28% (2016 – 4.28%). 

Financial risks 

The Corporation understands the risks inherent in its business and defines them broadly as 
anything that could impact its ability to achieve its strategic objectives. The Corporation’s exposure 
to a variety of risks such as credit risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk, as well as related 
mitigation strategies are discussed below. 

(a) Credit risk: 

Financial assets carry credit risk that a counterparty will fail to discharge an obligation which 
could result in a financial loss. Financial assets held by the Corporation, such as accounts 
receivable, expose it to credit risk. The Corporation earns its revenue from a broad base of 
customers located in the City of Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot.  As of December 31, 
2017, one customer accounted for more than 1% of total accounts receivable. Totaling $207 
(or 1.1%) out of a total accounts receivable of $18,329. The outstanding balance was paid in 
January 2018. 

The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance for 
impairment and the amount of the related impairment loss is recognized in net income. 
Subsequent recoveries of receivables previously provisioned are credited to net income.  The 
balance of the allowance for impairment at December 31, 2017 is $250 (2016 - $250). An 
impairment loss of $155 (2016 - $129) was recognized during the year. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 
(a) Credit risk (continued): 

The Corporation’s credit risk associated with accounts receivable is primarily related to 
payments from distribution customers. At December 31, 2017, approximately $210 (2016 -
$178) is considered 60 days past due. The Corporation has over 95 thousand customers, the 
majority of whom are residential. Credit risk is managed through collection of security deposits 
from customers in accordance with directions provided by the OEB. As at December 31, 2017, 
the Corporation holds security deposits in the amount of $14,500 (2016 - $14,200). 

(b) Market risk: 

Market risks primarily refer to the risk of loss resulting from changes in commodity prices, 
foreign exchange rates, and interest rates. The Corporation currently does not have any 
material commodity or foreign exchange risk. The Corporation is exposed to fluctuations in 
interest rates as the regulated rate of return for the Corporation’s distribution business is 
derived using a complex formulaic approach which is in part based on the forecast for long-
term Government of Canada bond yields. This rate of return is approved by the OEB as part of 
the approval of distribution rates. 

A 1% increase in the interest rate at December 31, 2017 would have increased interest 
expense on the long-term debt by $29 (2016 - $80), assuming all other variables remain 
constant.  A 1% decrease in the interest rate would have an equal but opposite effect. 

(c) Liquidity risk: 

The Corporation monitors its liquidity risk to ensure access to sufficient funds to meet 
operational and investing requirements. The Corporation’s objective is to ensure that sufficient 
liquidity is on hand to meet obligations as they fall due while minimizing interest exposure. The 
Corporation has access to a $5,000 credit facility and monitors cash balances daily to ensure 
that a sufficient level of liquidity is on hand to meet financial commitments as they come due. 
As at December 31, 2017, no amounts had been drawn under BMO Bank of Montreal credit 
facility (2016, $ nil). 

The Corporation also has a bilateral facility for $35,000 (the “LC” facility) for the purpose of 
issuing letters of credit mainly to support the prudential requirements of the IESO, of which 
$35,000 has been drawn and posted with the IESO (2016 - $35,000). 

The majority of accounts payable, as reported on the balance sheet, are due within 30 days. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued): 

(d) Capital disclosures: 

The main objectives of the Corporation, when managing capital, are to ensure ongoing access 
to funding to maintain and improve the electricity distribution system, compliance with 
covenants related to its credit facilities, prudent management of its capital structure with regard 
for recoveries of financing charges permitted by the OEB on its regulated electricity distribution 
business, and to deliver the appropriate financial returns. 

The Corporation’s definition of capital includes shareholder’s equity and long-term debt.  As at 
December 31, 2017, shareholder’s equity amounts to $147,968 (2016 - $142,030) and long-
term debt amounts to $78,745 (2016 - $79,872). 

23. Future accounting pronouncements: 
The Company is evaluating the adoption of the following new and revised standards along with 
any subsequent amendments. 

Revenue Recognition 

The IASB has issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”). IFRS 15 
replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and various interpretations and 
establishes principles regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue arising 
from contracts with customers. The standard requires entities to recognize revenue for the 
transfer of goods or services to customers measured at the amounts an entity expects to be 
entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Corporation is assessing the impact of IFRS 15 on its 
results of operations, financial position and disclosures. 

Financial Instruments 

In July 2015, the IASB issued a new standard, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which will replace 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The replacement of IAS 39 is a 
multi-phase project with the objective of improving and simplifying the reporting for financial 
instruments. The issuance of IFRS 9 is part of the first phase of this project. IFRS 9 is effective for 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and must be applied retrospectively. The 
Corporation is assessing the impact of IFRS 9 on its results of operations, financial position, and 
disclosures. 
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KITCHENER POWER CORP. - CONSOLIDATED 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

23. Future accounting pronouncements (continued): 

Leases 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 to establish principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosures of leases, with the objective of ensuring that lessees 
and lessors provide relevant information that faithfully represents those transactions. IFRS 16 
replaces IAS17 and it is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The 
Corporation is assessing the impact of IFRS 16 on its results of operations, financial position and 
disclosures. 
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FINANCIAL & STATISTICAL REVIEW 
As at December 31 (unaudited) 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

1. DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS

Population1 252,520 246,700     239,900 236,500 234,000
Households1 96,720       94,170 92,050 90,560 88,765
Area in acres2 33,797       33,802 33,802 33,802 33,802

2. TAXABLE ASSESSMENT ($000's)

Residential and farm3 23,639,290 22,414,567 21,215,652 19,990,326 18,892,818
Commercial and industrial3 3,525,281 3,390,259 3,291,854 3,177,397 3,059,552
Total 27,164,571 25,804,826 24,507,506 23,167,723 21,952,371

3. TAX RATES

Residential and Farm Taxable Full
City 0.36212 0.36742 0.37488 0.38135 0.39217
Region 0.61147 0.61359 0.61489 0.61875 0.62784
School Boards 0.17900 0.18800 0.19500 0.20300 0.21200
Total 1.15259 1.16901 1.18477 1.20310 1.23201

Commercial Taxable Full
City 0.70613 0.71647 0.73101 0.74363 0.76474
Region 1.19237 1.19650 1.19903 1.20656 1.22429
School Boards 1.39000 1.40000 1.43000 1.46000 1.49000
Total 3.28850 3.31297 3.36004 3.41019 3.47903

Industrial Taxable Full
City 0.70613 0.71647 0.73101 0.74363 0.76474
Region 1.19237 1.19650 1.19903 1.20656 1.22429
School Boards 1.39000 1.50000 1.53000 1.56000 1.59000
Total 3.28850 3.41297 3.46004 3.51019 3.57903
1. Source: Planning, Housing and Community Services Department, Regional Municipality of Waterloo

2. Source: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census Data (2017); 2011 Census Data (2013 to 2016)

3. 2013 to 2015 data has been restated to show Phase-in taxable assessment rather than Current

assessment value.

The 2011 tax rate increase has been restated to indicate what the tax rate increase would have been prior to 

the transfer of storm water management costs to a new user rate.  Without this restatement, a decrease would 

have shown for 2011. 
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FINANCIAL & STATISTICAL REVIEW 
As at December 31 (unaudited) 

($000's)
2017 2016 2015

(Restated)
2014 2013

4. COLLECTION STATISTICS

Total taxes billed 406,605 394,020 379,110 368,577 359,385
Total collections 405,060     389,608     382,899 365,882 359,339
Total collections as a % of current levy 100% 99% 101% 99% 100%
Taxes receivable, net of allowance 16,878 20,598 19,617 22,706 20,610
Total receivable as a % of current levy 4% 5% 5% 6% 6%

5. CONSOLIDATED REVENUE

Taxation and user charges 318,547     292,898     290,215 291,714 280,998
Grants 12,908 5,830        10,013 6,991 4,101
Share of net income of Kitchener Power
   Corp. and its affiliates 9,348        9,593        10,121 9,793 7,639
Development charge revenue recognized 7,303        10,388 11,044 8,076 6,892
Other 15,851 21,097 25,801 21,020 25,943
Total revenue 363,957 339,806 347,194 337,595 325,573

6. CONSOLIDATED EXPENSES

Expenses by Function

General government 39,436 38,932 31,273 37,797 36,033 
Protection services 47,268 45,291 44,728 42,727 41,776 
Transportation services 37,805 35,100 34,566 35,328 32,908 
Environmental services 31,305 30,012 29,194 28,332 29,730 
Health services 2,296        2,257        2,245        2,144        2,155        
Social and family services 2,662        2,722        2,752        2,609        2,640        
Recreation and cultural services 69,847 68,496 68,645 66,141 62,907 
Planning and development 13,123 13,160 12,060 13,100 8,600        
Gasworks 67,386 52,184 59,246 70,824 64,605 
Total Expenses 311,128     288,154     284,709     299,002     281,354     

Expenses by Object

Salaries, wages and employee benefits 151,980     147,224     141,941     138,259     133,464     
Materials and services 103,297     91,996 97,908 110,106     98,719 
Debenture debt interest 3,179        3,534        3,869        3,740        3,941        
Grants and other 5,295        4,214        3,031        4,192        3,879        
Amortization 46,188 42,658 40,274 39,646 37,355 
Loss/(Gain) on sale of assets 1,189        (1,472)       (2,314)       3,059        3,996        
Total Expenses 311,128     288,154     284,709     299,002     281,354     
7. ANNUAL SURPLUS 52,829 51,652 62,485 38,593 44,219
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FINANCIAL & STATISTICAL REVIEW 
As at December 31 (unaudited) 

2017 2016 2015
(Restated)

2014 2013

8. ANALYSIS OF LONG-TERM DEBT ($000's)

Gross debt issued by the municipality 77,889 84,859 93,536 102,999     112,039     
Less debt recoverable from municipal
   enterprises and consolidated boards 9,596        10,121 10,629 11,125 11,607 
Less debt recoverable from other sources 7,252        8,587        9,870        11,105 12,292 
Net debt to be repaid from property taxes 61,041 66,151 73,037 80,770 88,140
Net debt per capita ($'s) 242 268           304           342           377           
Legal debt limit ($000's)4 294,301     296,556     288,323     281,852     305,717     
Interest on long-term debt as a % of 
 total expenditures 1.0% 1.2% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4%

9. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS ($000's)

Reserves, reserve funds and deferred
revenue - obligatory reserve funds 98,754 88,097 77,081 47,982 40,844 

Unexpended capital financing 118,172     108,099     94,927 85,939 83,448 
Accumulated surplus 1,335,832 1,283,004  1,231,351  1,176,249  1,137,656  

10. NEW CONSTRUCTION

Value of construction ($000's) 498,220     739,739     565,081     573,063     331,491     
Number of building permits 2,503        3,158        2,749        2,559        2,307        
Number of single family dwelling starts 300 840           614           504           348           
11. NET FINANCIAL ASSETS ($000's) 220,788     214,048     194,460     187,392     176,202     
4. The debt limit is based on the Financial Information Return from the second immediate preceding year. 
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12. PRINCIPAL CORPORATE TAXPAYERS

2017 Taxable Assessment Value ($000's)

DREWLO HOLDINGS INC 355,081
CF/REALTY HOLDINGS INC 231,359
ONTREA INC. 223,132
EUROPRO (KITCHENER) GP INC 94,559
ONTARIO MINISTER OF ENERGY & INFRASTRUCTURE 84,685
VOISIN DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED 72,680
MORGUARD NAR (ONTARIO) HOLDINGS LIMITED 70,986
THE INCC CORP 69,290
KITCHENER HOUSING INC 66,606
HOMESTEAD LAND HOLDINGS LIMITED 66,492
STAMM INVESTMENTS LIMITED 60,098
STEEVES & ROZEMA ENTERPRISES LIMITED 49,006
CP REIT ONTARIO PROPERTIES LIMITED 47,498
BOARDWALK REIT PROPERTIES HOLDINGS LTD 47,461
KINGSWOOD DRIVE KITCHENER GP INC 46,572
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	01B Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 2017 -formatted.pdf
	The City of Kitchener’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with reporting standards set by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. KPMG LLP have audited the financi...
	The following financial statement discussion and analysis has been prepared by management and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and financial and statistical review.
	There are four required financial statements:
	 statement of financial position;
	 statement of operations;
	 statement of change in net financial assets, and
	 statement of cash flow.
	The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, reserves, surpluses/deficits, revenue, and expenditures of city funds and governmental functions or entities. These functions and entities comprise a part of the combined city oper...
	Ontario’s Cap and Trade System (the “system”) came into effect on January 1, 2017.  As a natural gas supplier, the City of Kitchener is a mandatory participant in the system and must submit allowances to the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Cha...
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

	The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position highlights four key figures that together describe the financial position of a government: 1) cash resources, 2) net financial asset position, 3) non-financial assets that are normally held for service ...
	The City’s net financial asset balance is $214 million (2015 - $194 million), an increase of $20 million.  This balance is calculated as total financial assets less liabilities and represents the amount available to finance future operations.  The inc...
	The City’s cash position is closely managed and remains adequate along with short-term investments to meet ongoing cash requirements. The cash position has decreased to $23 million from $39 million in 2016. The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows sum...
	The decrease in Taxes receivable at yearend to $17 million from $21 million in 2016 is due to increased collection efforts and due to higher tax write-offs as the Assessment Review Board works to clear the backlog of appeals.
	Trade and other accounts receivable
	The amount in Trade and other accounts receivable has increased to $43 million from $29 million in 2016.  This is due primarily to utility receivables where rates increased over 2016 and due to the introduction of the cap and trade component on gas in...
	Inventory for Resale
	The City holds certain inventory items for resale (primarily related to the Gasworks enterprise).  This inventory has increased to $16 million from $9 million in 2016 due to a higher value of natural gas held and due to the City pre-purchasing allowan...
	Investments
	City of Kitchener invests in a manner that provides the highest return while protecting and preserving capital, maintaining liquidity to meet the daily cash flow demands and to conform to all legislation governing the investment of public funds.  The ...
	Investment in Kitchener Power Corporation & Kitchener Generation Corporation
	The City’s investment in both Kitchener Power Corporation and its affiliates and Kitchener Generation Corporation is made up of the City’s initial investment and its share of net income since acquisition less dividends received.  See Notes 6 and 7 to ...
	Deferred Revenue – Other
	Certain user fees and charges are collected for which the related services have yet to be performed. These are recorded under the classification Deferred revenue - other.  Deferred revenue other has increased by $9 million to $23 million in 2017.  The...
	The City has three components that comprise the overall debt total.  Debt has been issued to fund:
	 a portion of the tax-supported capital program
	 capital improvements to Enterprises, where the debt charges will be funded through user fees or external sources, such as the Parking Enterprise or the Kitchener Rangers
	 the Economic Development Investment Fund (EDIF)
	The City’s capital investment philosophy ensures that any increases in debt charges from one year to the next do not exceed assessment growth (excluding the impact of the debt associated with EDIF).  As well, the overall contribution from the tax base...
	The City created EDIF in 2004 as a $110 million commitment to invest in catalyst projects to strengthen the local economy and stimulate urban development in Downtown Kitchener. The fund has provided dollars for major strategic investment projects incl...
	Municipal debt has decreased to $78 million from $85 million in 2016. The change in debt is a result of new debt issuance of $4.4 million offset by repayment of $11.4 million of existing debt.    Debt is expected to decrease for the next number of ye...
	Employee Future Benefits
	Total employee future benefits includes liabilities for future sick leave costs, post-retirement benefits and future Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) payments.  The liability has increased from $42 million in 2016 to $46 million in 2017.  T...
	Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost less residual value of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a...
	During 2017, the City acquired $95 million in tangible capital assets (2016 - $75 million).  Amortization of assets was $46 million (2016 - $43 million).  Refer to Note 13 and Schedule A of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed breakdow...
	The City’s accumulated surplus for fiscal 2017 is $1.34 billion (2016 - $1.28 billion).  The accumulated surplus reflects the resources that have been built over time at the City and the balance includes items such as tangible capital assets, equity i...
	Reserve Funds
	Reserve funds are included as part of accumulated surplus and these balances are disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements.  Reserve fund balances have increased during 2017 to $61 million (2016 - $55 million).
	Under the authority of the Municipal Act, the City and certain of its consolidated entities have established reserve funds to ensure future liabilities can be met, capital assets are properly maintained and sufficient financial flexibility exists to r...
	Consolidated Statement of Operations

	The Consolidated Statement of Operations reports the revenue collected by the City, the cost of providing municipal services and the resulting annual surplus/deficit.
	This year, overall assessment growth was 1.65%. While this new assessment creates revenue for the City, there is also a cost to provide services to new development. In addition, cost increases in excess of inflation, public demand for new services and...
	Revenue is received from the following sources: taxation; user fees from gasworks, water, sewer, storm water and other; grants and other.  Kitchener is one of only two municipalities in Ontario that own and operate a natural gas utility.
	Gasworks revenue is $14 million higher than 2016 due to higher rates charged to customers as planned and due to the new cap and trade system that has the City collecting revenue to cover the cost of cap and trade allowances that must be remitted relat...
	Water, sewer & storm water revenue is $6 million greater than in 2016 due to the approved increases in the user fee rates charged for these services.
	Grant revenue is greater than prior year due to Clean Water Wastewater Infrastructure funding and additional Federal Gas Tax funds earned in the year.  Grant revenue is less than budget due to the deferral of certain Federal Gas Tax funded projects.  ...
	The ‘Other’ category in the chart above includes contribution of tangible capital assets, investment income, penalties and interest on taxes, development charge revenue recognized, and share of net income of Kitchener Power Corporation and Kitchener G...
	Expenses
	The City of Kitchener is a diversified government institution and provides a wide range of services to its citizens including fire, roads, water, sewer, natural gas, libraries, and community services.  Schedule B of the Consolidated Financial Statemen...
	As is common with most Ontario municipalities, the City of Kitchener does not budget for amortization of tangible capital assets or gains and losses on disposal of assets.  However, to provide a more meaningful comparison to actuals, the Council-appr...
	Expenses in Transportation services are $3 million higher than in 2016 as the City disposed of certain land under roads where these roads intersected Regional roads.
	Environmental services expenses are $3 million under budget due to certain projects being delayed and due to water main break costs being less than anticipated.
	Gasworks expenses in 2017 were $15 million higher than in 2016. This relates to higher commodity prices compared to 2016 and due to the requirement to purchase cap and trade allowances related to the gas consumed by the City’s customers. The lower Gas...
	Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

	The Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets explains the difference between a municipality’s surplus or deficit for the reporting year and its change in net financial assets in the same reporting year.  This statement provides for the reporting of...
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

	The statement of cash flows reports changes in cash and cash equivalents resulting from operations, capital, investing and financing activities and shows how the City financed its activities during the year and met its cash requirements.
	LOOKING AHEAD

	Looking ahead to 2018, the City will continue to balance community priorities with affordable property tax rates and user fees.  The in-depth business planning and budgeting processes help the City to manage these healthy pressures and make the right ...
	Continuing to focus on building an even stronger financial position through lower debt levels and healthier reserve balances will allow the city to be resilient and flexible in responding to growth and change, not just in 2018 but for the years to come.
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